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helps companies

simplify the management and
enhance the performance of their

voice and data networks.




As it celebrates 20 years in business, Applied Innovation occupies a unique and powerful niche in the
telecommunications and high-tech industries. Using a deep understanding of the architecture, elements and
management of voice and data networks, the Company delivers solutions to its customers that enhance
network performance and improve the efficiencies of the supporting systems. The automation afforded by

these solutions gives business and government customers greater visibility into, and more control over, their

networks —increasing operational efficiencies, profitability and security. Applied Innovation is headquartered

in Columbus, Ohio and is traded on NASDAQ under the symbol AINN.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Sales v ivi e $ 33,968 § 42,961 $ 73,019 § 116,103 § 49,524
(Loss) income before income taxes ... .. (1,225) (8,387) 2,993 14,919 10,086
Net (loss) income ................ ... (535) (4,855) 2,238 10,145 7,005
Diluted (loss) earnings per share ...... (0.04) (0.32) 0.14 0.63 0.45
Cash and investments ............... 27,973 23,964 28,616 26,274 19,071
Currentassets ......oovvniiiinn, 27,363 31,463 40,998 65,901 30,359
Totalassets ...t 49,883 50,385 60,848 80,688 44,594
Current liabilities ................... 6,406 6,336 9,194 30,697 7,507
Stockholders” equity .. ..o 43,477 43,299 50,904 49,992 37,088
Total (iabilities and shareholders’ equity .. 49,883 50,385 60,848 80,688 44,594

(In thousands, except per share amounts)




APPLIED INNOVATION IN ACTION

Since 1983, Applied Innovation’s hardware, software and service solutions have
helped companies in the U.S. and abroad simplify the management of their
complex networks. Early on, we focused on telephone networks with the
Regional Bell Operating Companies (RBOCs) as our primary customers. Today,
we continue to serve those customers, and others, with an advanced set of ]
solutions that reduce the cost of operating networks in the wireline and [ o
wireless markets. We are also finding new applications in the government
sector. Included here are just a few examples of how Applied Innovation
impacted these markets in 2003.

GOVERNMENT

In 2003, large systems integrators (LSIs) found that
Applied Innovation products can improve the network
management capabilities and increase the network security
they offer their government customers. One major
government contractor placed initial orders for Alscout™ in
the first quarter and the product became operational with
the U.S. Air Force shortly thereafter. The device, which is
being used to improve the effectiveness of security
solutions at remote offices, military installations and other

sites, is expected to save the user 20-30% annually in
network maintenance costs—freeing up Department of
Defense funds for more strategic matters. Follow-on sales
are expected in 2004, and trials with other government
contractors are currently underway.
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WIRELESS

A customer approached us in 2003 seeking a cost-effective network
security solution. It had already priced out solutions on the market,
which were too expensive to install and not in accordance with industry
quality standards. In response, we partnered with Check Point™
Software Technologies, a market-leading Internet security provider, to
develop an alternative solution. In less than six months, we delivered
Alfirewall™ —a robust security application that fit seamlessly into the
customer’'s Alswitch™ chassis. Along with maximizing the customer’s
assets, this unique solution created operations efficiencies by freeing
up security staff to focus on more strategic endeavors. For Applied
Innovation, Alfirewall positions us as the most cost-effective solution
for network security with our Alswitch customers, and opens up
exciting new market opportunities.

This past year, a leading U.S. wireless telecommunications provider accelerated
its deployment of Albadger™ to provide remote management to its microwave
radio-linked sites. Prior to installing our product, the customer was forced to
dispatch two technicians to separate sites to investigate the source of each
outage—a costly and time-consuming proposition given the rugged, often
mountainous, terrain on which the towers reside. With Albadger, the customer has
to dispatch just one technician and, in some cases, can avoid dispatching
technicians altogether—reducing annual maintenance costs by 30-50%. The
customer has also realized increased visibility into its power, site security and other

systems, which helps drive enhanced network performance.

INTERNATIONAL

2003 marked the successful build-out of the network belonging
to South Africa’s major telecommunications service provider, The
process took several years and resulted in over $11 million in
orders for Applied Innovation. With the network foundation in
place, this same customer added several Alremote™ management
devices this past year to bring additional network connectivity to
its most remote sites and reduce its maintenance costs—costs
that are substantial given that the network landscape includes
jungle and desert territories. Most recently, the customer made
an initial deployment of our new Alextend™ mediation device to
implement a government initiative against crime.




DEAR FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS:

In 2003, Applied Innovation executed a well-defined strategy to stay closely aligned with our
customers’ evolving needs and, as a result, drove solid financial, market and technology gains.
As the economy remained flat and the telecommunications industry continued to evolve, we effec-
tively controlled our costs and stabilized our business to ride out the market transitions. At the same
time, we introduced new applications that further extend value to our customers in exciting new areas,
including packet switching and routing, security and wireless repeater monitoring. Although most of
these technological advances did not result in 2003 revenues, they position us solidly for future

growth in new business areas.




Applied Innovation’s 2003 financial results show marked
improvement in cash flow and profit over 2002. A soft first
quarter was followed by a strong second, demonstrated by a
70% increase in sales. The third quarter brought sequential
growth, with sales 5% higher than the previous quarter
and 37% higher than the same quarter last year. We fin-
ished the year with strong fourth quarter operating profits,
although sales fell short of projections as some customers
delayed purchases until 2004. Importantly, we began to
see investments in new market areas pay off as an increased
amount of sales came from emerging areas of our business,
including the wireless and international markets.

In line with Applied Innovation's longstanding commitment
to R&D, we began initial deployment of several new
products in 2003—each driven by customer demand.
Innovations like Alremote™, Alextend™ Alconnect™ and
others not only augment our portfolio of network manage-
ment products that serve the existing customer base, they
open the door to exciting new market opportunities.
Alremote, for example, allows us to not only target the

atlow our largest wireless customers to perform real-time
monitoring of the radio frequency performance of their
networks from a central location. This addition fits well
with the portfolio’s value of reducing our customers’ net-
work maintenance costs and allowing them to better plan
their networks and associated resources. Through strategic
innovation and close partnerships with our customers,
Applied Innovation is positioned to benefit as the wireless
market continues to rapidly grow and evolve.

Wireline | The domestic wireline market faces a competitive
and changing environment focused on Voice over Internet
Protocol (VoIP), migration to managed services and
DSL—compounded by the uncertainty of the regulatory
environment. Still, this segment accounted for a majority of
revenue in fiscal 2003 as we focused efforts on maintaining
and increasing our core customer base. In the fourth
quarter, we introduced Alremote™, a robust management
device that allows our customers to manage small remote
sites from their network operations centers—reducing
operational costs and improving decision support and

"Applied Innovation's strategy to stay closely aligned with our customers'
evolving needs led to solid financial, market and technology gains in 2003."

Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr., Chairman, President & CEQ

outside plant area of our existing RBOC customers—a network
space we had not entered previously—but also has appli-
cations to government networks and the wireless market.

MARKET OPPORTUNITIES

Applied Innovation serves four distinct, yet related,
markets —each with network management and mediation
needs. Each of these markets relies on complex and
evolving networks with very long life cycles, providing
us continuous opportunities to apply our engineering
strengths and network experience to new products,
software and services.

Wireless | The domestic wireless market accounted for
roughly 10% of Applied Innovation’s revenue in fiscal
2003, up from 2% the previous year. The acquisition of
Badger Technology in the second half of 2001 began
paying off considerably in 2003. The Albadger™ portfolic
offers complete remote site management and has been
shown to drive 30-50% reductions in our customers’ opera-
tional expenses, aligning us firmly with their need to run
their businesses more profitably while improving service
quality. In the third quarter of 2003, we began develop-
ment on an addition to the Albadger portfolio that will

security. We've received positive feedback on Alremote
from our core telecommunication customers and from
government and other nontraditional customers. With tens
of thousands of outside plant locations in the U.S. alone,
this product expands our reach and market potential.

We completed development on three additional products in
2003 targeted specifically to the wireline market. We initiat-
ed development of Alfirewall™ in response to our customers’
need to cost-effectively protect their data communications
networks {DCNs) which face increasing risk of intrusion as
they introduce new services into their network for enter-
prise customers. We introduced Alextend™, an application
mediation device, in the third quarter to allow customers
to quickly and cost-effectively integrate network elements
with legacy and next-generation operations support systems
(0SSs). A leading domestic service provider is currently
deploying the product nationwide to improve the efficiency
of their outside plant operations. We created Alconnect™,
a Linux-based router/line card, to replace the existing
AlI2524 router product. By incorporating the programmability
of Alextend, we are able to position Alconnect as a
unique, high value-add product. Customer feedback is
promising, with customer testing commencing in December
of 2003 and general availability slated for February 2004.



Government | We made important advances in the
government sector in 2003, a market known for being
difficult to penetrate and slow to change. By partnering
with government consultants and building relationships
with leading systems integrators, we acquired a niche
for Applied Innovation products in secure remote site
management. We received initial orders for Alscout™
from a large government contractor in the first quarter
of 2003 and follow-on orders ensued throughout the
year. In addition, we sold Albadger™ into military base
installations to solve wireless network challenges. Alremote™,
as mentioned previously, is also aligned to meet security
needs characteristic of the government market. Currently,
customer trials are underway for these products with
other government contractors and additional follow-on
orders are expected.

We are committed to this important market segment and
are satisfied that our rate of penetration is on target. By
securing additional partnerships in the government channel
and expanding our government sales force, we hope to

customers have shown an increased interest in upgrading
legacy X.25 equipment with IP-enabled mediation. Qur
domestic experience will serve us well as we assist these
global customers with similar challenges.

LOOKING AHEAD

Although the regulatory environment remains unclear,
it appears that telecom spending is returning to historic
norms and customer investments are targeted at key
application areas such as VoIP, DSL and radio frequency
monitoring. Because the FCC has yet to issue guidance on
VoIP tariffs and taxes, some of the major carriers are
delaying their investment in this new technology. Our
strategy to stay aligned with our customers and to innovate
based on market demand keeps us well-positioned as we
move into the next fiscal year.

Applied Innovation's portfolio and value-oriented approach
to simplifying network management bodes well for
companies whose 0SS networks remain a vital strategic
investment. This, combined with Applied Innovation’s ability

Applied Innovation will remain a strong niche
player based on its ability to control costs and pursue
new market opportunities from a solid base.

build awareness of the Applied Innovation brand and realize
increased sales. opportunities in the coming year.

International | Despite initial orders coming from Mexico
and Brazil and add-on sales from South Africa, revenue
from international sales decreased in fiscal 2003. Although
our South African customer slowed network-related spending
due to their 2003 IPO and subsequent reorganizations, the
service provider continued to evaluate and purchase new
Applied Innovation products. Fortunately, the issues sur-
rounding the IPO that negatively impacted 2003 spending
are not expected to impact 2004 expenditures.

In the coming year, we expect sales in Mexico, Brazil,
South Africa and Canada. Canada holds great potential for
wireless business through a distributor we recently signed.
Meanwhile, trials of several Applied Innovation solutions
continue in other countries worldwide. We have laid the
groundwork to diversify our international revenue stream
and will start to see steady growth. Our international

to control costs and pursue new market opportunities from
a solid base, will allow us to remain a strong niche player.

On behalf of the entire executive team and our board of
directors, I want to thank you for your support. We believe
in the strength and potential of Applied Innovation and
will continue to work diligently to ensure that we serve
the best interests of our customers and our shareholders.

Sincerely yours,

/4

Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr.
Chairman, President & CEO




The strategic direction of Applied Innovation is
driven by a highly experienced executive team.
With more than 120 years combined experience
in the telecommunications and technology indus-
tries, this team knows what it takes to succeed in

today’s competitive environment,

Matthew P. Bruening | VP, Sales

Matthew (Matt) Bruening was appointed VP of Sales in
2001, joining Applied Innovation with over 13 years
experience in technology sales and sales management.
Prior to that, Matt served as Regional VP for Fiberlink
Communications, a virtual private networking (VPN) service
company. Prior to that, he spent nearly 13 years with
UUNET and its predecessor, CompuServe Network Services.
Matt is a graduate of John Carroll University.

Eric W. Langille | VP, Operations & Services

As VP of Operations & Services, Eric Langille oversees the
Company's quality assurance, manufacturing and procure-
ment operations and services division. He has bheen
with Applied Innovation since 1995, when he joined as
Director of Manufacturing. Prior to that, Eric served as

VP Manufacturing at Plexus Corporation, as Manager of
Manufacturing at Northrop/Wilcox, and at Texas Instruments
as a Senior Manufacturing Engineer. Eric holds a B.S. in
Manufacturing Engineering from Spring Garden College.

MEET THE OFFICERS

Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr. | Chairman, President & CEO
Gerard (Gerry) Moersdorf founded Applied Innovation in
1983 and is the driving force behind the Company's
strategic direction, management policies and customer-
centric philosophy. He has been honored as Regional
Entrepreneur of the Year by Ernst & Young and as Executive
of the Year by the Industry and Technology Council of
Central Ohio. Gerry is a charter member of the Columbus
Technology Leadership Council and a frequent speaker for
the International Engineering Consortium.

Michael P. Keegan | VP, CFO & Treasurer

Michael (Mike) Keegan has served as VP, CFQ and Treasurer
since 1999 and oversees the Company's finance, accounting,
information systems, human resources and facilities func-
tions. Prior to joining Applied Innovation, Mike was VP &
Controller at Orbital Sciences Corporation, where he assisted
with over $1 billion in financing transactions. Mike has
also been with KPMG LLP and Iridium LLC, an international
consortium developing the world's first hand-held global
satellite voice communications system. He is a graduate of
The Ohio State University.

John F. Petro | VP, Engineering

John (Jack) Petro joined Applied Innovation with over

20 years experience in telecommunications research and
development. Prior to joining Applied Innovation, Jack
served as VP Engineering at Bonita Software, a provider of
client/server middleware for the wireless enterprise market.
Prior to that, he served as VP Engineering at ReadyCom
and Director of ATM Switch Development for Fujitsu
Network Communications. Before that, he worked for 12
years at Bell Northern Research/Northern Telecom. Jack
holds a Ph.D. degree in Mathematics from Temple University.

Thomas R. Kuchler | VP, Marketing

Thomas (Tom) Kuchler was named VP of Marketing in
2003 and is responsible for the Company's marketing
strategies, business development and partnership efforts.
Prior to joining Applied Innovation, Tom was Director of
Strategic Marketing for two divisions of Nortel Networks.
He also held various product and engineering management
positions for SpectraPoint Wireless LLC and Texas
Instruments Defense Systems Group (now Raytheon).
Tom holds a BSIE degree from Purdue University and an
MBA from Southern Methodist University.



The table below presents selected operating and balance sheet data for the years ended and as of December 31, 2003,
2002, 2001, 2000 and 1999. The selected financial data for those periods and as of those dates have been derived
from the Company’s audited financial statements. This selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “ltem 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” of the Applied Innovation Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K. :

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Operating 'Data:
Sales vt e $ 33,968,086 $ 42,961,011 § 73,019,150 ¢ 116,103,392 $ 49,523,619
Costofsales ..................... 16,353,637 23,556,671 39,251,716 75,906,065 20,917,459
Grossprofit ................... 17,614,449 19,404,340 33,767,434 40,197,327 28,606,160
Selling, general and administrative
EXPENSES v v vein e 13,689,576 18,413,456 22,183,578 18,455,315 11,965,059
Research .and development expenses... 5,675,652 7,084,646 9,648,898 8,176,622 7,479,496
Restructuring charges .............. (32,237) 2,890,155 292,330 — —
Total eperating expenses ......... 19,232,991 28,388,257 32,124,806 26,631,937 19,444,555
(Loss) income from operations .... (1,618,542) (8,983,917) 1,642,628 13,565,390 9,161,605
Interest and other income, net ...... 393,057 597,137 1,350,338 1,353,612 924,476
(Loss) income before income taxes .. (1,225,485) (8,386,780) 2,992,966 14,919,002 10,086,081
Incometaxes ..........c.. oot {690,000) (3,532,000) 755,000 4,774,000 3,081,000
Net (loss) income .............. $  (535485) $ (4,854,780) $§ 2,237,966 $ 10,145,002 § 7,005,081
Basic (loss) earnings per share ...... $ (0.04) $ (0.32) $ 0.14 § 0.65 $ 0.45
Diluted (loss) earnings per share ..... $ (0.04) $ (0.32) % 0.14 § 0.63 $ 0.45
Shares used in computing basic
(loss) earnings per share .......... 14,994,924 15,092,328 15,870,492 15,598,723 15,598,143
Shares used in computing diluted
(loss) earnings per share .......... 14,994,924 15,092,328 16,140,993 16,014,153 15,647,050

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and short-term and

non-current investments .......... $ 27,973,038 § 23,964,017 § 28,616,130 § 26,274,009 $ 19,070,826
Net working capital ............... 20,957,201 25,127,859 31,803,653 35,204,228 22,851,872
Totalassets ........covvivvnann. 49,882,879 50,384,908 60,847,804 80,668,451 44,594,329

Stockholders” equity ............... 43,476,636 43,299,366 50,903,912 49,991,620 37,087,664
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PART ONE

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The word's “anticipate,”
“believe,” “expect,” “estimate,” “project” and similar words and expressions identify forward-looking statements which speak
only as of the date hereof. Investors are cautioned that such statements involve risks and uncertainties that could cause
actual results to differ materially from historical or anticipated results due to many factors, including, but not limited to, the

factors discussed in “Business—Business Risks.” The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any

Sforward-looking statements.

ITEM ONE | BUSINESS

"o "o

All references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “Applied Innova-
tion,” “AL" or the “Company” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K mean Applied Innovation Inc.

GENERAL

Applied Innovation Inc. is a network management solutions
company that simplifies and enhances the operation of
complex, distributed voice and data networks. Building on
a deep knowledge of network architecture, elements and
management, Al delivers unique hardware, software and
service solutions that provide greater connectivity, visibil-
ity and control of network elements and the systems that
support them.

The Company was founded in Columbus, Ohio in 1983 by
Gerard Moersdorf, Jr. The Company has two wholly owned
subsidiaries.

Applied Innovation, headquartered in Columbus, Ohio, is
traded on NASDAQ under the symbol AINN. The Company’s
corporate headquarters occupy a 115,000 square foot facil-
ity located at 5800 Innovation Drive, Dublin, Ohio 43016,
800-247-9482.

THE COMPANY’'S MARKETS

Applied Innovation’s solutions are targeted to three
primary markets in the U.S. and abroad: 1) telecommunica-
tions companies using wireline networks; 2) telecom-
munications companies using wireless networks; and
3) government networks. Synergies within the markets
allow the Company to leverage its knowledge and experi-
ence and deliver a common value proposition based on key
competitive differentiators—namely, its extensive knowl-
edge of network infrastructure, its commitment to vendor
neutrality, and its focus on customers. At the same time,
Applied Innovation delivers targeted value to each market
by understanding and meeting its unique demands.

The Company's products and services help operators of
large, complex networks more efficiently and effectively
manage their operations. The products serve three primary
network management applications in data communications
networks (DCNs): mediation, aggregation and adaptation.

Mediation refers to the translation of differing data com-
munications standards, or protocols, to a common protocol
used by the carrier's network. Applied Innovation’s media-
tion expertise, combined with its network knowledge,
vastly simplifies the carrier's network management activi-
ties. The Company does this by providing seamless connec-

tivity between operations support systems (0SSs),
generally located at a network operations ceriter (NOC), and
network elements (NEs), generally located remotely in a
central office (CO) or other network location.

Aggregation is the process of collecting multiple data
streams from multiple network locations and combining the
data streams onto a single data stream—ultimately the
data is connected to a wide area network (WAN). AI's
aggregation products simplify and flatten its customers’
networks, thereby improving efficiency, reducing mainte-
nance costs and eliminating the costs cf overlapping
communication lines.

Adaptation simplifies the process of replacing or upgrading
0SSs. Often, 0SS migration is a very time-consuming, high-
risk and expensive process for the Company’s customers
since they not only have to migrate large and complex
software systems, but they also have to modify their very
large and complex DCNs, comprised of thousands of ele-
ments. Al's adaptation products solve mediation and aggre-
gation issues for the customer, eliminating cor reducing the
need to modify its DCN.

PRODUCTS
HARDWARE SOLUTIONS

Alswitch™|Alswitch delivers maximum connectivity and
mediation for surveillance networks. This mediation system
allows network operators to maintain correct protocol
interaction and communication between operations sup-
port systems and network elements and offers increased
flexibility. With Alswitch, service providers can increase
network availability, reduce operational expenses, improve
network utilization and gain flexibility in network architec-
ture in central offices.

Alextend™|Alextend brings intelligence to the network
edge and improves 0SS efficiency. A powerful, next-genera-
tion application mediation device, Alextend facilitates
rapid integration of network elements with beth legacy and
next-generation operations support systems. With it, ser-
vice providers can reduce 0SS integratior costs, gain
intelligence at the edge, improve return on current network
investments, increase efficiency of their 0SS and gain
flexibility and scalability.

Alconnect™ |Alconnect is a multi-purpose line card that
provides a highly integrated, scalable routing solution to
support local central office IP networks. It also provides
aggregation to collect and manage remote sites, allowing

Applied Innovation Inc. JI




the service provider to avoid the complex network deploy-
ment or costly infrastructure and support typically required.

Alfirewall™ | Alfirewall is a robust security application that
fits seamlessly into the AIswitch™ chassis. The product
combines best-in-class firewall technology from Check
Point™ Software Technologies with Applied Innovation's
NEBS 3 compliant design. Alfirewall allows its customers to
manage services and network devices located at the cus-
tomer premises without compromising the security of the
operations support network. It sits in a central office
between the customer access point and the internal sup-
port network, which allows it to pass authorized manage-
ment traffic while suppressing any unauthorized access
attempts. Network managers have full visibility into the
managed services and devices, while security personnel can
administer pinpoint access rules using Check Point Fire-
wall-1 NG.

Alscout™ | Alscout streamlines network management and
improves visibility at the network’s edge. Simplifying the
integration of diverse network elements, Alscout provides a
common point of connectivity. As part of a unified network
management framework, it allows network operators to
monitor, control and analyze faults in a network with a
common point of remote and local access. With Alscout,
service providers can improve network manageability, ac-
celerate troubleshooting, reduce network maintenance
costs and improve network reliability at smaller or remote
sites.

Albadger™|Albadger provides a flexible, affordable solu-
tion for intelligent, unified network management of wire-
less infrastructure. Bringing network management
connectivity, site monitoring and alarm visibility to remote
network sites, Albadger is designed to meet a broad range
of operating and security requirements. With Albadger,
service providers can lower operating costs, improve net-
work availability, increase network flexibility and speed
return on investment.

Alremote™ | AIremote extends the intetligence of operations
supports systems by enabling them to access out-of-band
network management information beyond the central of-
fice—thereby delivering intelligence and control to the
edge of the broadband access network. By providing a
flexible, scalable means of managing and monitoring re-
mote locations, this temperature-hardened device allows
service providers to lower operating costs, reduce mainte-
nance costs, decrease training costs and lower total cost of
ownership.

Alvortex™ | Alvortex is a scalable network bridging solution
that allows service providers to aggregate remote sites
without investing in an expensive router-based network.
This compact, high-capacity solution is an effective means
of reaching the outermost edges of a network without the
commonty accepted technical complexities. With Alvortex,
organizations gain a cost effective solution, multi-vendor
interoperability, higher switch and transport network relia-
bility, scalability and simplified deployment.

Financial Disclosures|Revenues from sales of hardware
solutions are included in Products and Integration Sales in
the Company's consolidated financial statements and are
described as Products Sales in the Company’s product-line
revenue analysis in Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

NETWORK MANAGEMENT SOFTWARE SOLUTIONS

The Company offers several network management software
(NMS) solutions to help telecommunications service provid-
ers manage their data communications networks.

AppliedView™ | AppliedView consolidates all Applied Inno-
vation equipment operations for improved system manage-
ment. As the element management system for Applied
Innovation equipment, AppliedView is integrated with HP
OpenView® to provide an in-depth view of Al equipment
and expand the reach of the management center to every
Al network node. Its sophisticated yet easy-to-use graphi-
cal user interface (GUI), inventory control system, compre-
hensive menu system and firmware download scheduler
provide all the tools necessary to monitor, provision and
maintain installed Applied Innovation equipment. With
AppliedView, service providers can accelerate problem reso-
lution, simplify configuration of AL equipment, save time
and money, speed recovery time in emergency situations
and reduce administrative upgrade costs.

HP OpenView™ | Applied Innovation maximizes the industry
leading HP OpenView suite to provide comprehensive and
complete management solutions. Al combines its extensive
telecom networking and operations expertise with HP's
market-leading OpenView software suite to deliver proven,
end-to-end management solutions.

Financial Disclosures|The Company generates software
license fees from the sale of these NMS solutions. Such
license fees and related third-party NMS equipment reve-
nues are included in Products and Integration Sales in the
Company's consolidated financial statements and are de-
scribed as Products Sales in the Company's product-line
revenue analysis in Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

SERVICES SOLUTIONS

Applied Innovation delivers added value to customers
through a robust suite of service offerings. Leveraging its
in-depth knowledge of the telecommunications industry,
enterprise networking, network management systems and
operational support requirements, the Company delivers
scalable solutions to fulfill complex business requirements
in innovative ways. Its comprehensive portfolio of services
includes Al Network Management System Services, AI De-
ployment Services and other service offerings.

Al Network Management System Services |AI offers a com-
plete suite of professional services, including detailed
design, integration, test, installation, training and overall
program management, that significantly reduce the com-
plexity, time and cost involved in moving towards new
generation systems. Al's robust service offerings offer
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modularity, interoperability and openness—ensuring they
are reliable, scalable and deliver a lower total cost of
ownership. The Company’s innovative deployment methods
provide customers with integrated, tested and installed
systems that are ready for operation.

Al Deployment Services|Al offers extensive Deployment
Services, including site management, detail engineering,
furnishing, installation, test and turn-up. The Company's
roots in the telecommunications industry have yielded a
highly trained, Telcordia™-certified installation staff fo-
cused on meeting strict engineering standards and docu-
mentation requirements. It is a disciplined approach that
carries over to every customer, industry and installation.
The Company also offers an integrated method of deploy-
ment that unites customers’ disparate third-party equip-
ment and systems with its own. Al customers gain
significant economies of scale because the Company can
provide a large portion of the installation, cabling and
configuration support prior to equipment and personnel
arriving at the customer site.

Financial Disclosures|The Company generates services
revenue from customers under contracts and/or purchase
orders that define the scope of work for a given project.
The Company generally recognizes services revenue at
project completion. The Company also offers extended
maintenance and support agreements. Revenues from such
agreements are deferred and recognized straight-line over
the terms of the agreements.

Revenues from service work and maintenance contracts are
classified as Services Sales in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and are described as Services Sales in
the Company's product-line revenue analysis in Manage-
ment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.

MANUFACTURING AND OPERATIONS

All of the printed circuit boards, chassis enclosures and
other hardware used in the Company’s products are de-
signed in the Company’s Oublin facility and are proprietary
designs of the Company. Under the supervision of the Vice
President of Operations and Services and the Company's
Quality Control organization, printed circuit boards, chassis
enclosures and power supplies used in each of the Com-
pany’s products are contracted out to third-party manufac-
turing firms for assembly. These subassemblies are then
shipped to the Company for testing and final assembly.
Procurement of materials is driven through an enterprise
resource planning (ERP) system with production forecasts
supplied to contract firms for component ordering from
sources supplied and approved by the Company. The Com-
pany maintains and controls all documentation and process
requirements for products manufactured by the contract
assembly firms. The Company utilizes multiple assembly
firms and is, therefore, not dependent on any single third-
party manufacturer.

The Company performs multiple inspections on its products
as well as various test procedures prior to shipment to
customers. These processes are designed to assure product

performance and reliability in the environments in which
the products will be used. The Company has made and
continues to make significant investments to attain quality
assurance consistent with stringent industry standards. The
Company develops and manufactures its products in accor-
dance with Network Equipment Building Standards
(NEBS) and Generic Equipment Requirements guidelines.
The Company is International Standards Organization
9001:2000 (ISO 9001:2000) certified and hecame TLI000
certified in March 2004.

MARKETING, BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
AND SALES

The Company’s products and services are sold primarily
through its own sales force, except for independent sales
agents and distributors in Australia, Brazil, Mexico, South
Africa and Canada. The Company is exploring alternative
distribution channels to allow sales of the Company's
products to markets that are not easily accessible or cost
effective for its own sales force. In addition to the Dublin,
Ohio headquarters, the Company maintains sales offices in
Dallas, Denver and Mexico City.

The Company generates a large portion of its annual
revenues from customers with whom the Company has done
business for many years. Company sales personnel work
with network managers and planners to determine network
management requirements, the timing of individual
projects and the customers’ funding for such projects. The
Company generally has master purchase agreements with
its largest recurring customers, and receives individual
purchase orders from customers as Company products and
services are required.

For new customers, sales leads are generated through
targeted marketing efforts such as direct mail to telecom-
munications service providers and through product adver-
tising and trade shows. Sales leads are followed up by
personal contact from the Company’s sales and marketing
staff. If sufficient interest exists, an on-site visit may be
scheduled for the purpose of making a sales presentation,
which may include a product demonstration.

The technical complexity of the Company’s products and
the relative large size of customers create a long sales cycle
for the Company’s products. The technical nature of the
products requires a sales force that is highly trained and
technically experienced. The Company's sales force receives
incentive compensation based on sales level achievement.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company's research and development (R&D) activities
are coordinated with product management and sales with
specific focus on customer requirements. Enhancements to
Alswitch™ are focused on enhancing the performance capa-
bilities of the product and adding functionality in its set of
line cards, including Alconnect™, Alextend™ and Alfirewall™
These enhancements allow a service provider to seamlessly
transition to next generation operations support systems,
integrate new elements into their systems more efficiently,
consolidate network management systems and adapt the
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information flowing across the product for more rapid imple-
mentation of customer-driven applications.

Additional enhancements are in development for the
Albadger™ product line as well as producing additional
products for the wireless market to enhance network man-
agement capabilities, improve service quality and speed the
introduction of new technologies. One such enhancement is
in the area of radio frequency (RF) performance monitoring,
where the company is working on an application to allow
its customers to proactively monitor performance.

Enhancements to the Company’s new Alremote™ product
are also planned to address additional applications with
service providers’ outside plant applications, including en-
hanced networking and security features. Additional en-
hancements are also planned to meet specific government
market requirements.

The Company spent $5,575,652, $7,084,646 and
$9,648,898 on Company-sponsored R&D during the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. R&D expenditures represented approximately 16%,
16% and 13% of annual sales in fiscal 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. During 2004, the Company expects to
continue committing resources and cash to its research and
development efforts at a rate generally consistent with
2003 spending. See “Business—Business Risks—New Prod-
ucts, Research and Development, and Rapid Technological
Change; Need to Manage Product Transitions.”

SERVICES, CUSTOMER SERVICE AND
WARRANTY

The Company offers its customers a variety of services such
as technical support, project management, training, detail
engineering, installation, test and turn-up. Project manag-
ers interface between the Company and customers for
installation of new products and services and upgrades of
existing products. The project manager is also responsible
for assuring that circumstances are anticipated prior to
certifying the system for full operation. Following installa-
tion, account managers maintain contact with the custom-
ers to ensure customer satisfaction.

The Company designs training programs to educate the
customer’s system administration, operations and mainte-
nance personnel to operate the system. Classes are availa-
ble on-line and at the customer’s site or at the Company’s
headquarters. Additional training is also offered to the
customer during system upgrades and for new operations
personnel.

The Company's field service department provides design,
integration and installation services for telecommunica-
tions network equipment. The Company believes that its
field service department complements and enhances the
sale of its products.

The Company warrants its products for a minimum of one
year after the sale. Customers may also purchase extended
warranty contracts with guaranteed overnight factory re-
placement service for circuit boards or system modules in
the event of equipment failure. Software revisions to the

Company’s products are also available as part of the ex-
tended warranty contracts, or may be purchased by the
customer. For an additional charge, on-site spares are
available for those customers who require immediate re-
placement. For warranty-related issues and customers with
extended maintenance agreements, the Company also pro-
vides a 24-hour Service Hotline and web-based support for
instant access to its field service and support departments.

Warranty expenses represented approximately 2.7%, 2.3%
and 2.1% of annual sales in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respec-
tively. See “Business—Business Risks—Risk of Product
Defects.”

COMPETITION

There are numerous manufacturers of data communications
equipment. Manufacturers of these products frequently spe-
cialize their products for specific applications and could
enter the Company's target markets. Significant competi-
tion exists from several well-established companies having
resources superior to those of the Company and from other
aggressive companies.

Competition for the Company's hardware products arises
primarily from the following equipment suppliers: ADC,
Carrier Access Corporation, Cisco Systems, Datatek Corp.,
DPS Telecom, Eastern Research and Quest Controls. See
“Business—Business Risks—Competition.”

Competition for the Company's service offerings includes
internal solutions, offerings from other HP OpenView resel-
lers and independent software vendors including
Micromuse, Harris Corporation and TTI Telecom.

PERSONNEL

As of February 27, 2004, the Company had 154 full-time
and part-time employees. The Company’s employees are
distributed among the following departments: Sales and
Marketing 37; Research and Development 46; Services 28;
Administration 23; and Operations 20.

BUSINESS RISKS

The Company desires to take advantage of the “safe harbor”
provisions of the Private Secunities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. In addition to the other information in this report,
readers should carefully consider that the following impor-
tant factors, among others, in some cases have affected, and
in the future could affect, the Company’s actual results and
could cause the Company’s actual consolidated results of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2004, and
beyond, to differ materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by, or on behalf of, the
Company.

Risks Associated with Customer Concentration; Dependence
on Telecommunications Industry|A significant portion of
the Company's revenues in each fiscal quarter since incep-
tion has been derived from substantial orders placed by
large organizations, such as the Regional Bell Operating
Companies (RBOCs). As a result, the Company's sales often
have been concentrated among a relatively small number of
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customers. In fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, sales to the
Company's three, three and four largest customers repre-
sented approximately 74%, 75% and 66%, respectively, of
the Company’s total sales. The Company expects that it will
continue to be dependent upon a limited number of
customers for a significant portion of its revenues in future
periods. None of the Company’s customers are contractually
obligated to ‘license or purchase additional products or
services from the Company. As a result of this customer
concentration, the Company's business, operating results
and financial condition could be materially adversely af-
fected by the failure of anticipated orders to materialize or
by deferrals or cancellations of orders. In addition, there
can be no assurance that revenue from customers that have
accounted for significant sales in past periods, individually
or as a group, will continue, or if continued, will reach or
exceed historical levels in any future period. Furthermore,
such customers are concentrated in the telecommunica-
tions industry. Accordingly, the Company’s future success
depends upon the capital spending patterns of such cus-
tomers and the continued demand by such customers for
the Company's products and services.

Many of the Company’s largest customers maintain collec-
tive bargaining agreements with their employees. Accord-
ingly, they have been affected by labor strikes in the past
and could be affected in the future. Such labor strikes may
impact certain customers’ ability to place orders for Com-
pany products, accept shipments or deploy products in
their networks, and therefore, may impact the Company’s
sales. Additionally, many of the Company’s largest custom-
ers have significantly reduced staffing over the last two
years, including key customer personnel involved in
purchasing decisions who are knowledgeable about the
Company. The loss of key customer contacts could nega-
tively impact future demand for the Company’s products
and services.

Over the last 36 to 48 months, domestic telecommunica-
tions service providers have significantly reduced spending
on new equipment and services and many competitive local
exchange carriers (CLECs) have failed. The uncertainty
regarding the regulatory environment, specifically regard-
ing final guidance on Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP)
tariffs and taxes, could also impact timing and/or invest-
ments by domestic service providers in the new technology
and the related equipment they would need to manage and
monitor these new additions to their networks. Addition-
ally, any future mergers and acquisitions among the Com-
pany’s customers could impact future orders from such
customers. The Company's operating results may in the
future be subject to substantial period-to-period fluctua-
tions as a consequence of such customer concentration and
factors affecting capital spending in the telecommunica-
tions industry.

Product Concentration|Revenue from the sale, service and
support of the Company’s Alswitch™ family of products has
accounted for a substantial portion of the Company's sales
since inception. The Company believes that revenue from the
sale, service and support of the central office products will
continue to account for a significant portion of the Com-
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pany’s total sales in fiscal 2004. Therefore, the Company’s
future operating results, particularly in the near term, are
significantly dependent upon the continued market accept-
ance of these products, improvements to the product frame-
work. There can be no assurance that the Company's central
office products and software will continue to achieve market
acceptance or that the Company will be successful in devel-
oping, introducing or marketing improvements to its prod-
ucts and applications. The life cycles of such products are
difficult to estimate due in large part to the effect of future
product enhancements and competition. A decline in the
demand for centrat office products as a result of competition,
technological change or other factors would have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business, operating results
and financial condition.

New Products, Research and Development, and Rapid Tech-
nological Change; Need to Manage Product Transitions | The
market for the Company’s products is characterized by
rapidly changing technologies, evolving industry standards,
frequent new product introductions and rasid changes in
customer requirements. The introduction of products em-
bodying new technologies and the emergence of new
industry standards and practices can render existing prod-
ucts obsolete and unmarketable. As a result, the life cycles
of the Company’s products are difficult to estimate. The
Company's future success will depend on its ability to
enhance its existing products and to develop and intro-
duce, on a timely and cost-effective basis, new products
and product features that keep pace with technological
developments and emerging industry standards and address
the increasingly sophisticated needs of its customers. The
Company is attempting to ensure future suc:ess by contin-
uing to invest in its research and development efforts.
However, there can be no assurance that th2 Company will
be successful in developing and marketing new products or
product features that respond to technolocical change or
evolving industry standards; that the Company will not
experience difficulties that could delay or prevent the
successful development, introduction and marketing of
these new products and features; or that its new products
or product features will adequately meet the requirements
of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance. If the
Company is unable, for technological or other reasons, to
develop and introduce enhancements of existing products
or new products in a timely manner, the Company's busi-
ness, operating results and financial condition will be
materially adversely affected.

The introduction or announcement of products by the
Company or one or more of its competitors embodying new
technologies, or changes in industry standards or customer
requirements, coutd render the Company's existing products
obsolete or unmarketable. The introduction of new or
enhanced versions of its products requires the Company to
manage the transition from older products in order to
minimize disruption in customer ordering. There can be no
assurance that the introduction or announcement of new
product offerings by the Company or one or more of its
competitors will not cause customers to defer purchasing
existing Company products. Such deferment of purchases




could have a material adverse effect on the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition.

Competition | There can be no assurance that the Company’s
current or potential competitors will not develop products
comparable or superior to those developed by the Company
or adapt more quickly than the Company to new technolo-
gies, evolving industry trends or changing customer re-
quirements. There can be no assurance that the Company
will be able to compete successfully against current and
future competitors or that competitive pressures faced by
the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its
business, operating results and financial condition.

Dependence Upon Proprietary Technology; Risk of Third
Party Claims of Infringement|The Company's success and
ability to compete are dependent in part upon its proprie-
tary technology. The Company relies on a combination of
trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, nondisclosure
and other contractual agreements and technical measures
to protect its proprietary rights. The Company currently has
no patents or patent applications pending. Despite the
Company’s efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unau-
thorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of the
Company’s products or to obtain and use information that
the Company regards as proprietary. There can be no
assurance that the steps taken by the Company to protect
its proprietary technology will prevent misappropriation of
such technology, and such protections may not preclude
competitors from developing products with functionality or
features similar to the Company’s products. In addition,
effective copyright and trade secret protection may be
unavailable or limited in certain foreign countries. While
the Company believes that its products and trademarks do
not infringe upon the proprietary rights of third parties,
there can be no assurance that the Company will not
receive future communications from third parties asserting
that the Company’s products infringe, or may infringe, the
proprietary rights of third parties. The Company expects
that technology companies will be increasingly subject to
infringement claims as the number of products and compet-
itors in the Company’s industry segment grows and the
functionality of products in different industry segments
overlap. Any such claims, with or without merit, could be
time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of
technical and management personnel, cause product ship-
ment delays or require the Company to develop non-
infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing
agreements. Such royalty or licensing agreements, if re-
quired, may not be available on terms acceptable to the
Company or at all. In the event of a successful claim of
product infringement against the Company and failure or
inability of the Company to develop non-infringing tech-
nology or license the infringed or similar technology, the
Company's business, operating results and financial condi-
tion could be materially adversely affected.

The Company relies on certain software that it licenses from
third parties, including software that is integrated with
internally developed software and used in the Company's
products to perform key functions. There can be no assur-
ance that these third party software licenses will continue
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to be available to the Company on commercially reasonable
terms or at all. Although the Company believes that
alternative software is available from other third-party
suppliers, the loss of or inability to maintain any of these
software licenses or the inability of the third parties to
timely and cost-effectively enhance their products in re-
sponse to changing customer needs, industry standards or
technological developments could result in delays or reduc-
tions in product shipments by the Company until equivalent
software could be developed internally or identified, 0i-
censed and integrated, which would have a material ad-
verse effect on the Company's business, operating results
and financial condition.

Reliance on Suppliers|The Company purchases raw material
and licenses technology from a number of domestic and
foreign sources. Several of the Company’s products intro-
duced in 2003 and planned for introduction in 2004 include
technology licensed from third parties, including compo-
nents of its routing, radio frequency and firewall technolo-
gies. The Company believes that currently there are
acceptable alternatives to the suppliers of raw material and
technology used in its products.

Future Capital Needs; Uncertainty of Additional Financing |
The Company currently anticipates that its existing cash,
cash equivalents, investments, cash to be generated from
future operations and funds which may be obtained from
future financing activities will provide sufficient capital to
meet the currently anticipated business needs of the Com-
pany. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan-
cial Condition and the Results of Operations—Liquidity and
Capital Resources.” The Company may need to raise addi-
tional funds through public or private debt or equity financ-
ings in order to take advantage of unanticipated
opportunities, including more rapid expansion or acquisi-
tions of complementary businesses or technologies, or to
develop new or enhanced services and related products or
otherwise respond to unanticipated competitive pressures. If
additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity
securities, the percentage ownership of the then current
stockholders of the Company may be reduced and such
equity securities may have rights, preferences or privileges
senior to those of the holders of the Company’s common
stock. There can be no assurance that additional financing
will be available on terms favorable to the Company or at all.
If adequate funds are not available or are not available on
acceptable terms, the Company may not be able to take
advantage of unanticipated opportunities, develop new or
enhanced services and related products or otherwise respond
to unanticipated competitive pressures and the Company's
business, operating results and financial condition coutd be
materially adversely affected.

Future Operating Results Uncertain | Historically, the Com-
pany has experienced fluctuations in revenues and net
income. Any growth rates in prior periods should not be
considered indicative of future growth, if any. There can be
no assurance that the Company's revenues will grow or be
sustained in future periods or that the Company will be
profitable in any future period.




Risk of Product Defects|Products as complex as those
offered by the Company may contain defects or failures
when introduced or when new versions or enhancements
are released. The Company has in the past discovered
defects in certain of its products, including a power supply
defect resulting in a recall in the first quarter of 2003.
Although the Company has remedied all known material
defects in its products, there can be no assurance that,
despite testing by the Company and its customers, errors
will not be found in existing or new products or releases,
resulting in delay or loss of revenue, loss of market share,
failure to achieve market acceptance or substantial war-
ranty expense. Any such occurrence could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results
and financial condition.

Potential Fluctuations in Quarterly Results; Seasonality | The
Company’s quarterly operating results have in the past and
will in the future vary significantly depending on factors
such as the timing of significant orders and shipments;
capital spending patterns of the Company's customers;
changes in the regulatory environment; changes in pricing
policies by the Company or its competitors; the lengthy
sales cycle of the Company's products; increased competi-
tion; changes in operating expenses; mergers and acquisi-
tions among customers; personnel changes; demand for the
Company’s products; the number, timing and significance
of new product and product enhancement announcements
by the Company and its competitors; the ability of the
Company to develop, introduce and market new and en-
hanced versions of its products on a timely basis; and the
mix of direct and indirect sales and general economic
factors. A significant portion of the Company’s revenues
has been, and will continue to be, derived from substantial
orders placed by large organizations, such as the RBOCs,
and the timing of such orders and their fulfillment has
caused and will continue to cause material fluctuations in
the Company's operating results, particularly on a quarterly
basis. Due to the foregoing factors, quarterly sales and
operating results have been and will continue to be diffi-
cult to forecast. Revenues are also difficult to forecast
because the Company’s sales cycle, from initial evaluation
to product shipment, varies substantially from customer to
customer. For these and other reasons, the sales cycle
associated with the purchase of the Company’s products is
typically lengthy and subject to a number of significant
risks, including customers’ budgetary constraints and inter-
nal acceptance reviews, over which the Company has little
or no control. The Company’s expense levels are based, in
part, on its expectations as to future revenue levels. If
revenue levels are below expectations, operating results are
likely to be materially adversely affected. In particular,
because only a small portion of the Company's expenses
varies with sales, net income (loss) may be disproportion-
ately affected by a reduction in sales. The Company's
business has experienced and is expected to continue to
experience significant seasonality, in part due to an in-
crease in capital expenditures by customers in certain
quarters. Based upon all of the foregoing, the Company
believes that quarterly sales and operating results are likely
to vary significantly in the future and that period-to-period

comparisons of its results of operations are rot necessarily
meaningful and should not be relied upon as indications of
future performance. Further, it is likely that in some future
quarter, the Company's sales or operating results will be
below the expectations of public market analysts and
investors. In such event, the price of the Company’s
common stock could be materially adversely affected.

Dependence on Key Personnel|The Company's success de-
pends to a significant degree upon the continuing contri-
butions of its key management, sales, professional services,
customer support and product development personnel. In
particular, the Company would be materially adversely
affected if it were to lose the services of Gerard B.
Moersdorf, Jr., Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, who has provided significant leadership and direc-
tion to the Company since its inception. The: loss of other
key management or technical personnel cculd adversely
affect the Company. The Company believes that its future
success will depend in large part upon its ability to attract
and retain highly skilled managerial, sales, professional
services, customer support and product development per-
sonnel. The Company has at times experienced and contin-
ues to experience challenges in recruiting qualified
personnel. Competition for qualified personnel is intense,
and there can be no assurance that the Company will be
successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Fur-
thermore, competitors have in the past and may in the
future attempt to recruit the Company’s employees. Failure
to attract and retain key personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results
and financial condition.

Llimited Market; Volatility of Stock Price|Although the
Company is listed on the Nasdaq National Market, there can
be no assurance that an active or liquid tracling market in
the Company's common stock will continue. The market
price of the shares of the Company's common stock is likely
to be highly volatile and may be significantly affected by
factors such as actual or anticipated fluctuations in the
Company's operating results, announcements of technolog-
ical innovations, new products or new contracts by the
Company or its competitors, developments with respect to
copyrights or proprietary rights, general market conditions
and other factors. In addition, the stock merket has from
time to time experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations that have particularly affected the market
prices for the common stocks of technolocy companies.
These types of broad market fluctuations may adversely
affect the market price of the Company’s common stock. In
the past, following periods of volatility in the market price
of a company's securities, securities class action litigation
has often been initiated against such a company. Such
litigation could result in substantial costs and a diversion
of management's attention and resources, which could have
a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
operating results and financial condition.

Anti-Takeover Provisions; Certain Provisions of Delaware
Law; Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws |Certain pro-
visions of Delaware law and the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation and By-Laws could have the effect of making
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it more difficult for a third party to acquire, or of discour-
aging a third party from attempting to acquire, control of
the Company. The Company’s By-Laws provide for the Board
of Directors to be divided into three classes of directors
serving staggered three-year terms. Such classification of
the Board of Directors expands the time required to change
the composition of a majority of directors and may tend to
discourage a proxy contest or other takeover bid for the
Company. Additionally, the directors, executive officers and
existing principal stockholders of the Company and their
affiliates beneficially own approximately 41.8% of the
Company’s common stock as of January 31, 2004. Such
concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying
or preventing a change in control of the Company.

Concentration of Stock Ownership|The present directors,
executive officers and principal stockholders of the Com-
pany and their affiliates beneficially own approximately
41.8% of the Company’s common stock as of January 31,
2004, In particular, Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr. beneficially
owns approximately 39.4% of the Company's common
stock. In addition, Mr. Moersdorf, Jr. has the right, by
agreement, to vote all of his former spouse’s shares. As a
result, Mr. Moersdorf, Jr. is able to exercise significant
influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, in-
cluding the election of directors and approval of significant
corporate transactions. Such concentration of ownership
may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in
control of the Company.

ITEM TWO | PROPERTIES

The Company is headquartered in a 115,000 square foot
modern corporate office and manufacturing facility in Bub-
lin, Ohio. All of the Company's manufacturing, administra-
tive and research and development activities and a
substantial portion of its marketing activities are con-
ducted at this location. The Company owns the building
and the approximately 33 acres of land on which it is
situated. In addition, the Company leases sales office
facilities in Dallas, Texas; Denver, Colorado; and Mexico
City, Mexico.

ITEM THREE | LEGAL PROCEEBINGS

The Company has no material legal proceedings against it,
other than ordinary litigation incidental to its business.

ITEM FOUR | SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO
A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable.
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PART TWO

ITEM FIVE | MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The Company’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ
National Market. The following table sets forth, for the
periods indicated, the high and low prices for the Com-
pany's common stock. The prices shown represent gquota-
tions between dealers, without adjustment for retail
markups, markdowns or commissions and may not represent
actual transactions.

2003 2002
High Low High Low
a ... $3.55 $2.36 $6.30 %4.35
Q2 ......... 3.73 2.60 5.02 3.56
Q3 ... 6.50 3.35 4.40 2.11
Q ... 7.35 5.86 3.74 2.20

ITEM SIX | SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

At February 27, 2004, the Company had 500 stockholders of
record.

The Company has not paid any cash dividends and presently
anticipates that all of its future earnings will be retained
for development of its business. The Company does not
anticipate paying cash dividends on its common stock in
the foreseeable future. The payment of any future dividends
would be at the discretion of the Company’s Board
of Directors and would depend upon, among other things,
future earnings, operations, capital requirements, the gen-
eral financial condition of the Company and general
business conditions.

The table below presents selected operating and balance
sheet data for the years ended and as of December 31,
2003, 2002, 2001, 2000 and 1999. The selected financial
data for those periods and as of those dates have been
derived from the Company’s audited financial statements.

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

This selected financial data should be read ia conjunction
with “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Operating Data:
Sales ... ... $33,968,086 $42,961,011 $73,019,150 $116,103,392 $49,523,619
Costofsates.................... ... 16,353,637 23,556,671 39,251,716 75,906,065 20,917,459
Gross profit .......... ... ... 17,614,449 19,404,340 33,767,434 40,197,327 28,606,160
Selling, general and
administrative expenses ............ 13,689,576 18,413,456 22,183,578 18,455,315 11,965,059
Research and development expenses.... 5,575,652 7,084,646 9,648,898 8,176,622 7,479,496
Restructuring charges................ (32,237) 2,890,155 292,330 — —
Total operating expenses ........... 19,232,991 28,388,257 32,124,808 26,631,937 19,444,555
(Loss) income from operations ... ... (1,618,542) (8,983,917) 1,642,628 13,565,390 9,161,605
Interest and other income, net ........ 393,057 597,137 1,350,338 1,353,612 924,476
(Loss) income before income taxes ... (1,225,485) (8,386,780) 2,992,966 14,919,002 10,086,081
INCOME taXeS . .....oovvennnns (690,000)  (3,532,000) 755,000 4,774,000 3,081,000
Net (loss) income................. $ (535,485) $(4,854,780) $ 2,237,966 § 10,145,002 $ 7,005,081
Basic (loss) earnings per share ........ $ (0.04) $ (0.32) $ 0.14 § 0.65 $ 0.45
Diluted (loss) earnings per share ...... $ (0.04) $ (0.32) § 0.14 % 0.63 § 0.45
Shares used in computing basic
(loss) earnings per share ........... 14,994,924 15,092,328 15,870,492 15,598,723 15,598,143
Shares used in. computing diluted
(loss) earnings per share ........... 14,994,924 15,092,328 16,140,993 16,014,153 15,647,050
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and short-term and
non-current investments ........... $27,973,038 $23,964,017 $28,616,130 $ 26,274,009 $19,070,826
Net working capital .............. ... 20,957,201 25,127,859 31,803,653 35,204,228 22,851,872
Total assets........................ 49,882,879 50,384,908 60,847,804 80,668,451 44,594,329
Stockholders’ equity ............ .. ... 43,476,636 43,299,366 50,903,912 49,991,620 37,087,664
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ITEM SEVEN | MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations contains various for-
ward-looking statements within the meaning of Sec-
tion 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe
harbors created thereby. Those statements include, but are
not limited to, all statements regarding intent, beliefs,
expectations, projections, forecasts and plans of the Com-
pany and its management, and include any statements
regarding future sales and other results of operations, the
continuation or changes of historical trends, the sufficiency
of Applied Innovation’s cash balances and cash generated
from operating activities, research and development efforts
and the future of the telecommunications industry or
Applied Innovation’s business. These forward-looking
statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties, in-
cluding, without limitation, fluctuations in demand for
Applied Innovation’s products and services, competition,
economic conditions, the fact that Applied Innovation may
decide to substantially increase research and development
expenditures to meet the needs of its business and custom-
ers, currently unforeseen circumstances which could require
the use of capital resources and the various risks inherent
in Applied Innovation’s business and other risks and uncer-
tainties detailed from time to time in Applied Innovation’s
periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. One or more of these factors have affected,
and could in the future affect, Applied Innovation's busi-
ness and financial results in future periods and could cause
actual results to differ materially from plans and projec-
tions. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the
forward-looking statements included herein will prove to be
accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent
in the forward-looking statements included herein, the
inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a
representation by Applied Innovation, or any other person,
that the objectives and plans of Applied Innovation will be
achieved. All forward-looking statements made herein are
based on information presently available to the manage-
ment of Applied Innovation. Applied Innovation assumes
no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

Applied Innovation Inc. (Applied Innovation, Al or the
Company) is a network management solutions company
that simplifies and enhances the operation of complex,
distributed voice and data networks. Building on a deep
knowledge of network architecture, elements and manage-
ment, Al delivers unique hardware, software and service
solutions that provide greater connectivity, visibility and
control of network elements and the systems that support
them. By providing solutions in the areas of network
mediation, aggregation and adaptation, the Company en-
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ables its customers to more effectively and efficiently
manage their large, complex networks.

Applied Innovation's products and services help its custom-
ers to improve network quality and uptime and, at the same
time, reduce network maintenance and repair costs. By
leveraging its extensive knowledge of network infrastructure,
its vendor-neutral methodology and its customer-centric
approach, Al provides solutions which help customers better
manage and control both their capital expenditures and their
operating expenditures. The Company targets three primary
markets in the U.S. and abroad: 1) telecommunications
companies using wireline networks; 2) telecommunications
companies using wireless networks; and 3) government
networks, Its largest customers in those markets are the four
RBOCs, domestic wireless service providers and other large
domestic and foreign phone companies.

The telecommunications industry has gone through several
years of significant turmoil. While there are signs the
industry has begun to stabilize, the past year was once
again characterized by an overall reduction in capital
spending, headcount reductions and other cutbacks in
operating costs. As a niche player in the industry, AI's
results have been negatively impacted by overall industry
conditions. Given the nature of the Company's products and
services, customer purchases of Al offerings are largely
discretionary and therefore carry the risk of being post-
poned or cancelled in times of uncertainty or un-
derperformance. However, the Company has taken a
number of steps which have helped minimize the negative
industry impact and position the Company for future
growth opportunities expected once the industry recovers.
Specifically, the Company enacted a number of cost reduc-
tion measures over the last two years to better align its
operating expenses with expectations about the industry
and customer spending. In addition, the Company has
responded with new product offerings and ongoing devel-
opment projects based on changing industry conditions
and customer needs. Also, the Company further diversified
its customer base by entering the wireless network man-
agement market through an acquisition in 2001 and the
Company experienced significant wireless growth in 2003.
To further its goal of customer and market diversification,
the Company continues to look toward international and
government opportunities with great optimism and has
aligned resources to capitalize on those opportunities.

Looking ahead to 2004, the Company is encouraged by
trends that are emerging in each of its key markets. The
following is an analysis of these trends, the Company's
positioning in each market and growth expectations for
each in 2004.

Wireline [Capital spending announcements by domestic
wireline carriers indicate that overall 2004 capital spending
may increase over 2003, the first such increase in three
years. The Company expects the wireline carriers to focus
on continued digital subscriber line (DSL) deployment,




Voice over Internet Protocol (VoIP) initiatives and signifi-
cantly increased broadband availability with fiber to the
premises (FTTP) plans. These new spending initiatives are
outside of Applied Innovation’s core network management
focus. Therefore, the Company must ensure that its market-
ing, sales and technology efforts will uncover network
management applications for each of these new carrier
initiatives. The Company believes the new products it has
developed over the last year, such as Alextend™, Alcon-
nect™ and Alremote™, have the flexibility, adaptability and
IP features that provide value to the carriers.

Overall Company sales are heavily concentrated with a few
domestic wireline carriers. Based on historical spending
patterns, the carriers’ first quarter spending is usually the
lowest, the second quarter picks up significantly, the third
quarter is usually flat to down sequentially and the fourth
quarter is the strongest of the year. In addition to seasonal-
ity, factors such as labor disruptions, reorganizations and
mergers can temporarily interrupt order flow and negatively
impact short-term sales. Looking into 2004, the Company is
encouraged by the apparent recovery of the carriers. The
Company is projecting single digit sales growth in wireline
sales for 2004, which would be the first year of wireline sales
growth after three years of decreasing sales.

Wireless |Wireless service providers are focused on differen-
tiating their service based on quality, national network
availability and broadband data applications. At the same
time, the service providers’ pricing power is limited due to
intense competition. In addition, the first steps towards
industry consolidation have been taken with Cingular Wire-
tess” announced plans to acquire AT&T Wireless. All of these
trends indicate the wireless service providers will find even
more value in workforce automation, quality initiatives and
consolidating disparate networks. Al is well-positioned to
capitalize on these trends with its Albadger™ and
Alremote™ intelligent network management devices. The
Company’s planned Albadger™-RFM product, which auto-
mates radio frequency testing and diagnostics, is expected
to be well accepted by the market. Wireless sales grew
nearly 400% in 2003, largely due to increased demand from
one large customer and the addition of a second wireless
carrier. Looking into 2004, the Company plans to broaden
its sales penetration in existing wireless accounts, add
additional customers and find new applications such as
radio frequency testing. Double digit sales growth in wire-
less sales is expected in 2004.

International | International sales in 2003 were below ex-
pectations, primarily due to a dramatic slowdown in orders
from the Company’s largest international customer in South
Africa. However, business development efforts in Mexico
and Brazil over the last two years began to pay off at the
end of 2003. Al expects the customers in these two
markets will continue to grow in 2004. The business issues
faced by foreign service providers are similar to those faced
by domestic service providers as they attempt to roll-out
new services such as DSL and broadband wireless data
applications, update legacy networks to current standards
and cut both capital spending and operating expenses. The
Company’s products are well-suited to these challenges
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since Al has been solving many of these issues domestically
for years through network mediation, network migration
and workforce automation. In 2004, solid sales growth is
expected from international business as demand from the
Company's South African customer increases and new cus-
tomers are added in new territories.

Government |The U.S. Government has significantly in-
creased its focus on communication, security and military
preparedness over the last several years. This focus has led
to deployments of new communication networks and up-
grades to existing infrastructure throughout the govern-
ment, especially in the Department of Defense (DaD),
Department of Homeland Security (DHS) and other security
agencies. Al's networking expertise is well suited to this
market, and the Company is working to develop business
relationships with large system integrators and government
customers. The Company expects that government sales
will also contribute to top line growth in 2004 and plans to
continue investing in the government market and leverag-
ing the inroads made to date.

Sales Cycles, Seasonality, Sales Forecasting|Due to the
complexity of the network management solutions provided,
the Company’s sales cycle can range from six months to
over two years for new product applications. The sales
process begins with the discovery of complex and unique
networking problems within new or existing customers. Al
proposes solutions encompassing a mix of products,
software and services, and then often tests these solutions
for months in customers’ test labs or networks. Next, Al
provides price quotes; the customer secures funding and
develops deployment plans; and finally begins ordering
product. The time from order to delivery is generally
measurable in days or weeks. Since the sales cycle is long,
but delivery time is relatively short, the Comany does not
operate with large order backlogs and order forecasting is
somewhat limited. In addition, the Company’s customer
base is concentrated heavily among a limitad number of
large domestic service providers and orders follow the
seasonal pattern described above. The Company attempts
to mitigate uneven order flow among its customers by
diversifying the mix of products, services and software.
Likewise, the Company attempts to offset the seasonal soft
first quarter from domestic wireline customers with
stronger demand from international and wirzless carriers.
Looking into the first quarter of 2004, a sequential decline
in domestic wireline orders is likely, but may be offset by
growth in international and wireless sales. If international
and wireless sales do not materialize as expected, the
Company could experience a sequential decline in sales
from the fourth quarter of 2003 to the first quarter of 2004,
Overall for 2004, however, sales are expected to increase
over 2003 levels due to the recent trends in each of the
Company’s key markets.

COMPARISON OF 2003 TO 2002
TOTAL SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

Sales of $33,968,000 for the year ended [lecember 31,
2003 decreased 21% from the prior years sales of
$42,961,000, due primarily to continued low levels of




capital expenditures throughout the telecommunications
industry. Despite continued strength in the wireless market
and growth in sales to the Company's domestic wireless
customers, total sales decreased due to lower domestic
wireline sales and a significant decrease in international
sales. Largely due to decreased spending by the Company's
largest international customer, international sales de-
creased from $6,391,000 in 2002 to $1,043,000 in 2003, a
decrease of 84%. Whereas international sales represented
15% of total sales in 2002, such sales represented only 3%
of total sales in 2003. Domestic sales also decreased in
2003, despite an increase in wireless sales from $803,000
in 2002 to $3,143,000 in 2003. Domestic sales for the year
ended December 31, 2003 were $32,925,000 compared to
$36,570,000 in the prior year. The 10% decrease resulted
primarily from decreased wireline sales, partially offset by
the increase in wireless sales.

Because of the Company's concentration of sales to a
limited customer base, a small number of customers have
historically comprised a substantial portion of the Com-
pany’s sales. Sales to three customers comprised 74% of
sales in 2003, with each contributing between 11% and
35% of sales. In 2002, sales to three customers comprised
75% of sales, with each contributing between 14% and
31% of sales. Because of the direct correlation and relative
importance of these significant customers’ capital spending
patterns to the Company, deviations from historical spend-
ing levels could significantly impact the Company's future
operating results.

Gross profit as a percentage of total sates was 52% for the
year ended December 31, 2003 as compared to 45% in the
prior vear. Several factors, as further discussed below,
contributed to that overall increase. First, services margins
were significantly higher than last year and services sales
represented a higher proportion of total sales than last
year. Second, variations in product sales mix resulted in
higher margins on product sales. Third, the prior year
included much higher inventory charges than the current
year due to additional charges necessary in 2002 for
obsolete and potentially excess inventory.

The following table summarizes total sales and gross profit
for products and services:

Gross
Sales Gross Profit  Profit %

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003:
Products....... $ 26,973,000 $ 13,790,000 51%
Services ....... 6,995,000 3,824,000 55%
Totab.......... $ 33,968,000 $ 17,614,000 52%
For the Year Ended December 31, 2002:
Products .. ... .. $ 35,992,000 $ 16,775,000 47%
Services ....... 6,969,000 2,629,000 38%
Total.......... $ 42,961,000 $ 19,404,000 45%

PRODUCTS SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

In 2003, product sales of $26,973,000 decreased by
$9,019,000, or 25%, from the prior year. As a percentage of
total sales, product sales dropped from 84% in 2002 to
79% in 2003. The overall decrease was due largely to the
decrease in orders from the Company’s largest international
customer as well as ongoing low levels of capital spending
industry-wide.

Product sales include revenues from the sales of the Com-
pany’s hardware products, as well as third-party hardware
and software licensing revenues.

Gross profit on product sales was 51% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to 47% for the prior year.
The increase in gross profit percentage is primarily attribu-
table to several factors: (i) slightly higher margins on core
products; (ii) improved margins on wireless products;
(ifi) fewer sales of third-party equipment associated with
NMS deployments (such equipment generally yields lower
margins); and (iv) fewer inventory charges in the current
year as compared to 2002. During 2003, the Company
recorded inventory charges of $551,000 compared to in-
ventory charges in excess of $2,100,000 during 2002, all of
which were charged to cost of goods sold. The 2002
charges related primarily to the Company's discontinuance
of its optical transmission product line based on the lack of
investment in new optical network capacity by the major
service providers. The charges also related to potential
excess inventory and market price exposure associated with
certain other materials in inventory. The Company expects
continued growth in its wireless and edge products sales in
2004, but overall product gross profit margins are expected
to be generally consistent with 2003.

SERVICES SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

Services sales of $6,995,000 were 21% of total 2003 sales,
versus services sales of $6,969,000, or 16%, of total 2002
sales. The slight increase in services sales from 2002 was
primarily attributable to the continued demand from wire-
less customers for installation services. The increase in
installation services sales was partially offset by decreased
NMS consulting and services sales, while sales from ex-
tended maintenance agreements were generally consistent
with the prior year.

Services sales include revenues from network planning and
design, installation, project management, engineering ser-
vices, training and maintenance.

Gross profit on services sales was 55% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to 38% for the prior year.
The increase in gross profit on service sales in 2003 was
primarily due to an increase in the volume of installation
service projects resulting in high utilization of services
personnel. Services gross profit margins in excess of 50%
are unusually high and these margins are expected to
return closer to historical levels of 40%-50% in 2004.
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SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expenses de-
creased to $13,690,000 in 2003 from $18,413,000 in 2002.
As a percentage of total sales, this represented 40% in
2003 and 43% in 2002. The decrease in SG&A spending was
primarily attributable to the significant headcount reduc-
tions in sales, marketing and other administrative functions
that occurred in the second half of 2002 (including the
elimination of five senior management positions) as well as
reductions in bonuses and commissions, advertising, trade
show expenditures, travel expenses and other discretionary
spending. Despite the overall reduction in SG&A spending,
the Company increased spending in sales and marketing to
further develop its wireless and government markets. SG&A
expenses in 2004 are anticipated to be slightly higher than
2003 as a result of variable expenses, such as bonuses,
commissions and sales travel associated with anticipated
increases in sales volume.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development (R&D) expenses were
$5,576,000 in 2003 and $7,085,000 in 2002. As a percent-
age of total sales, this represented 16% for both 2003 and
2002. The decrease in R&D expenses was primarily attributa-
ble to reduced headcount costs, lower materials costs and
other reductions in discretionary spending. During 2002 and
2003, the Company narrowed its R&D focus to concentrate
more on those projects in its current wireline and wireless
markets with the greatest strategic value and market poten-
tial. In 2004, the Company plans to continue to invest in
product enhancements and new product development to
support changing industry and customer needs. R&D spend-
ing in 2004 is expected to be comparable to 2003.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During 2002, the Company enacted two restructuring plans
resulting in aggregate restructuring charges of $2,890,000
related primarily to workforce reductions of approximately
150 employees throughout all departments, as well as
charges related to excess equipment and leased offices.
During 2003, certain adjustments totaling $32,000 were
made to decrease the restructuring accrual because the
planned headcount reduction was not fully enacted and
certain fringe benefit costs were less than originally esti-
mated. As of December 31, 2003, $44,000 of the accrued
restructuring costs remained to be paid. The remaining
accrued restructuring costs represent lease payments, net
of estimated sublease receipts, extending to 2005. No
additional workforce reductions or other cost reduction
actions are currently planned. However, the Company will
continue to monitor industry conditions and will take
corrective action as industry conditions change.

INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME, NET

Total interest and other income, net decreased to $393,000
in 2003 versus $597,000 in 2002. The overall decrease
resulted from llower interest income due to lower average
yields on cash and investment balances.

INCOME TAXES

The Company's effective income tax benefit rate was 56%
in 2003 compared to an effective tax benefit rate of 42% in
2002. The increase in the effective income tax benefit rate
in 2003 was due primarily to reductions to certain income
tax accruals to correspond with reductions in certain in-
come tax exposures. Based on an audit conducted by the
Internal Revenue Service in 2003 and the Company's de-
tailed analysis of certain federal and state income tax
exposures, the Company reduced its tax contingency
reserves by $351,000 in 2003.

NET LOSS AND LOSS PER SHARE

Net loss for 2003 was $535,000, or $0.04 per share,
compared to the net loss of $4,855,000, or $0.32 per
share, in 2002. The weighted-average number of shares
outstanding was 14,995,000 for 2003 compared to
15,092,000 for 2002.

ASSETS

Total assets decreased $502,000 in 2003, from
$50,385,000 at December 31, 2002 to $49,883,000 at
December 31, 2003. The Company's operations and working
capital changes resulted in total cash and investments
increasing $4,009,000 from 2002 to 2003. Part of the cash
and investments increase was attributable to the
$2,811,000 decrease in income taxes receivable as a result
of federal income tax refunds of $3,600,000 which were
received in 2003 for amounts refundable for the 2002 tax
filing year. In addition, overall lower sales and increased
collections efforts contributed to the reduction in net
accounts receivable of $1,591,000 between years. Net
inventory decreased $595,000 primarily as a result of the
Company's efforts to reduce its working capital investment,
as well as less inventory being required to support overall
lower sales. Net property, plant and equipment decreased
$733,000 as total purchases of $480,000 for the year were
more than offset by depreciation expense and asset dispos-
als. The other noteworthy change in non-current assets was
the $1,180,000 increase in other assets resulting from the
$1,224,000 purchase of corporate owned life insurance on
four of the Company’s executives, primarily purchased as an
alternative investment vehicle.

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Total liabilities decreased from $7,086,000 at December 31,
2002 to $6,406,000 at December 31, 2003. The total
decrease of $680,000 was primarily attributable to de-
creases in accounts payable of $765,000 and accrued
restructuring of $539,000, partially offset by an increase in
deferred revenue of $366,000. Fluctuations in accounts
payable are expected, based on the timing cf invoices and
check processing, even though the Company generally pays
amounts owed within standard 30 day terms. Accrued
restructuring costs were paid down in 2003 as expected,
with only the future lease payments for vacated office
space remaining in the accrual at the end of 2003. Deferred
revenue is also expected to fluctuate over tine, depending




on the timing of certain maintenance and support con-
tracts. The related revenue is recognized ratably over the
respective terms of the underlying contracts.

Total stockholders” equity increased $178,000 in 2003 as a
result of several factors. Increasing the stockholders’ equity
balance was the repayment of a $383,000 note receivable
for common stock, as well as $296,000 related to stock
option exercises and stock issued under the employee stock
purchase plan. Partially offsetting those increases was the
current year comprehensive loss of $501,000.

COMPARISON OF 2002 TO 2001
TOTAL SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

Sales for the year ended December 31, 2002 were
$42,961,000, a 41% decrease from the prior year’s sales of
$73,019,000. The prior vear's sales included $5,830,000 of
integration sales from early 2001 which the Company identi-
fied at the time as non-recurring in nature. Excluding the
impact of the non-recurring integration sales, sales de-
creased 36% from the previous year. The overall decrease in
sales was primarily attributable to the ongoing capital
spending reductions throughout the telecommunications in-
dustry by the large domestic service providers, including the
RBOCs, who comprise the majority of the Company’s sales.

Because of the Company’s concentration of sales to RBOCs,
long distance phone companies and large CLECs, a small
number of customers have historically comprised a sub-
stantial portion of the Company’s sales. Sales to three
customers comprised 75% of sales in 2002, with each
contributing between 14% and 31% of sales. In 2001, sales
to four customers comprised 66% of sales. Because of the
direct correlation and relative importance of these signifi-
cant customers’ capital spending patterns to the Company,
deviations from historical spending levels could signifi-
cantly impact the Company's future operating results.

Domestic sales decreased $32,251,000, or 47%, from the
prior year and comprised 85% of total sales in 2002 versus
94% in 2001. The Company continued to target interna-
tional sales opportunities in 2002, resulting in interna-
tional sales of $6,391,000, a 52% increase over the
previous year. As a percentage of total sales, international
sales increased to 15% in 2002 versus 6% in 2001.

Gross profit as a percentage of total sales was 45% for the
year ended December 31, 2002 as compared to 46% in the
prior year. Factors contributing to the overall decrease
were: (i) lower product margins as a result of additional
inventory charges taken during the year; (ii) lower sales
volumes resulting in lower coverage of fixed manufacturing
costs; and (iii) changes in product sales mix. Partially
offsetting the decrease in product margins, however, were
increased services margins based primarily on changes in
the mix of services sales. The Company shifted its services
focus towards higher margin NMS services and away from
lower margin installation services. Also offsetting the de-
cline in current year product margins was the lack of low
margin integration sales in 2002.

The following table summarizes sales and gross profit for
products, integration and services:

Gross
Sales Gross Profit  Profit %

For the Year Ended December 31, 2002:
Products ........ $ 35,992,000 $ 16,775,000 47%
Integration ...... — —
Services......... 6,969,000 2,629,000 38%
Total ........... $ 42,961,000 § 19,404,000 45%
For the Year Ended December 31, 2001:
Products ........ $ 52,841,000 $ 28,190,000 53%
Integration ...... 5,830,000 866,000 15%
Services. . ....... 14,348,000 4,711,000 33%
Total ........... $ 73,019,000 $ 33,767,000 46%

PRODUCTS SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

Product sales of $35,992,000 were 84% of total sales in
2002, versus product sales of $52,841,000, or 72%, of total
sales in 2001. This represented a 32% decrease in product
sales in 2002 from 2001, due largely to the industry-wide
reduction in capital spending. Product sales include reve-
nues from the sales of Alswitch™, Alscout™ and other
products, as well as third-party hardware and software
licensing revenues.

Gross profit on product sales was 47% for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to 53% for the prior year.
Product sales margins were negatively impacted by several
factors during 2002. First, overall decreased sales volumes
resulted in lower product margins due to lower absorption
of certain fixed manufacturing costs. Second, product sales
in 2002 included increased sales of third-party equipment
associated with NMS deployments. Sales of such third-party
equipment generally yield lower margins than the Com-
pany’s core products. Third, the Company recorded inven-
tory charges in excess of $2,000,000 during 2002 which
were charged to cost of goods sold. The charges related
primarily to the Company’s discontinuance of its optical
transmission product line based on the lack of investment
in new optical network capacity by the major service
providers. The charges also related to potential excess
inventory and market price exposure associated with cer-
tain other materials in inventory.

INTEGRATION SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

The Company had no integration sales in 2002, compared
to $5,830,000, or 8% of total sales in 2001. The integra-
tion sales in 2001, consisting of turnkey integrated systems
and including a significant amount of third-party products
integrated with the Company’s products, were attributable
to the sale of an integrated solution to one large customer
and were identified as non-recurring at the time of sale.
Since the first quarter of 2001, the Company has had no
additional integration sales.
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SERVICES SALES AND GROSS PROFIT

Services sales of $6,969,000 were 16% of total 2002 sales,
versus services sales of $14,348,000, or 20%, of total 2001
sales. The 51% decrease in services sales from 2001 was
primarily attributable to decreased demand for installation
services, consistent with the overall decrease in product
sales from the prior year and consistent with the overall
reduced spending in the industry. The Company’s NMS
consulting and services sales increased during the year
while sales from extended maintenance agreements were
consistent with the prior year. Services sales include reve-
nues from network planning and design, installation, pro-
ject management, engineering services, training and
maintenance.

Gross profit on services sales was 38% for the year ended
December 31, 2002 compared to 33% for the prior year.
The increase in gross profit on service sales in 2002 was
primarily attributable to the reduction of lower margin
installation work, the reduction in the number of installa-
tion technicians as part of the cost-cutting efforts and an
increased mix of higher margin NMS services sales.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative (SGRA)} expenses de-
creased to $18,413,000 in 2002 from $22,184,000 in 2001.
As a percentage of total sales, this represented 43% in
2002 and 30% in 2001. The decrease in SGRA spending was
primarily attributable to overall reductions in staffing (in-
cluding the elimination of five senior management posi-
tions), bonuses and commissions, advertising and trade
show expenditures, travel expenses and other discretionary
spending. The increase in SG&A spending as a percentage
of total sales was primarily a result of lower total sales in
2002 than in 2001.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Research and development (R&D) expenses were
$7,085,000 in 2002 and $9,649,000 in 2001. As a percent-
age of total sales, this represented 16% for 2002 and 13%
for 2001. The decrease in R&D expenses was primarily
attributable to decreased staffing costs and reduced ex-
penditures on hardware, materials and parts, as well as
reductions in other discretionary spending. The Company
narrowed its R&D focus to concentrate more on those
projects in its core telecommunications market with the
greatest strategic value and market potential. The increase
in R&D expenses as a percentage of total sales was
primarily a result of lower total sales in 2002 than in 2001.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

The Company recorded non-recurring charges to operating
expenses of $2,890,000 during 2002 to account for total
workforce reductions of approximately 150 employees,
throughout all departments. The restructuring charges were
incurred as a result of two restructuring events in 2002. The
first restructuring, occurring in the first quarter of 2002,
resulted in total charges of $408,000 relating primarily to
severance and fringe benefits associated with the termina-
tion of approximately 50 employees. The second restructur-
ing occurred in the third quarter of 2002 and resulted in
total charges of $2,482,000. Those charges related to
severance and fringe benefit costs of terminating approxi-
mately 100 employees, as well as charges related to excess
equipment and leased offices. The restructuring charges are
shown as a separate line item on the consolidated state-
ments of operations. As of December 31, 2012, $583,000 of
such costs remained to be paid. In 2001, the Company
recorded restructuring charges of $292,000 related prima-
rily to severance and fringe benefit costs associated with
the termination of approximately 40 emplayees, through-
out all departments.

INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME, NET

Total interest and other income, net decreasad to $597,000
in 2002 versus $1,350,000 in 2001. The overall decrease
resulted from lower interest income due to lower cash and
investment balances in 2002 than in 2001, as well as lower
average Yyields on those balances.

INCOME TAXES

The Company's effective income tax benefit rate was 42%
in 2002 compared to an effective tax expense rate of 25%
in 2001. The increase in the effective income tax benefit
rate in 2002 was due primarily to increased benefits
associated with research and experimentation credits, the
Company'’s foreign sales corporation and state net operat-
ing losses.

NET LOSS/INCOME AND LOSS/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Net loss was $4,855,000, or $0.32 per share, in 2002 versus
net income of $2,238,000, or $0.14 dilutec earnings per
share, in 2001. The diluted weighted-average number of
shares outstanding was 15,092,000 for 2002 compared to
16,141,000 for 2001. The decrease in the weighted-average
number of shares outstanding was primarily due to the
Company's stock repurchase program. During the twelve-
month program, which ended in September 2002, the Com-
pany repurchased 1,011,000 shares of its common stock.
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ASSETS

Total assets decreased from $60,848,000 at December 31,
2001 to $50,385,000 at December 31, 2002, a decrease of
$10,463,000. Total cash and investments decreased
$4,652,000 due primarily to funding of operations, which
consumed cash of $948,000, stock repurchases of
$2,835,000 and purchases of machinery and equipment of
$961,000. Net accounts receivable decreased $2,657,000
as a result of overall lower sales volume and increased
collection efforts. Net inventory decreased $3,912,000,
relating primarily to inventory charges of over $2,000,000
which the Company recorded in 2002, the Company's ef-
forts to reduce its working capital investment, as well as
overall lower sales volume. Net property, plant and equip-
ment decreased $1,030,000 as a result of current year
purchases offset by depreciation expense and asset dispos-
als. Partially offsetting those decreases was the increase in
income taxes receivable of $2,176,000 due to tax refunds
resulting from the current year operating losses.

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Total liabilities decreased from $9,944,000 at December 31,
2001 to $7,086,000 at December 31, 2002. The largest
portion of that total decrease of $2,858,000 was attributable
to deferred revenue. Deferred revenue decreased $1,588,000
as a result of the timing of several large customer mainte-
nance and support agreements entered into in late 2001.
Such agreements are initially recorded as deferred revenue
and the corresponding revenue is then recognized over the
terms of the related agreements. Accrued expenses decreased
$1,132,000 from the prior year due primarily to timing
considerations and overall lower business volume, partially
offset by increased restructuring accruals.

Total stockholders’ equity decreased $7,605,000 primarily
as a result of the current year net loss of $4,855,000 and
the Company's repurchase of common stock in 2002 total-
ing $2,835,000.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Net working capital was $20,957,000 at December 31,
2003 compared to $25,128,000 at December 31, 2002. At
December 31, 2003, the current ratio was 4.3:1 and the
Company's only debt outstanding was a $750,000 note
payable issued in conjunction with an asset acquisition in
2001. The note payable bears interest at an annual rate of
8%, with interest payments due semi-annually and princi-
pal due at maturity in August 2004.

The Company had $27,973,000 of cash and cash
equivalents and short- and long-term investments at De-
cember 31, 2003, an increase of $4,009,000 from the
December 31, 2002 balance of $23,964,000.

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Despite the net loss of $535,000 in 2003, operating
activities provided cash of $3,760,000. Significant compo-
nents of cash flows from operations included: decreased
income taxes receivable of $2,811,000; non-cash deprecia-

tion and amortization expenses of $1,407,000; and de-
creased accounts receivable of $1,591,000. The Company
received a $3,600,000 federal income tax refund in 2003,
but is expecting a less significant federal tax refund in
2004, likely $500,000 to $1,000,000. The Company will
likely have only $131,000 of amortization expense in 2004
(compared to $210,000 in 2003) because the associated
intangible assets will become fully amortized in 2004. It is
also likely that cash balances in 2004 will be negatively
impacted by increasing accounts receivable if sales volumes
increase as expected. Similarly, while inventory balances
decreased by $595,000 (net of non-cash charges) and
thereby were another source of cash in 2003, inventory
balances are near their lowest levels in a number of years.
For that reason and since higher inventory balances will be
necessary to support anticipated increased sales in 2004, it
is likely that inventory balances will increase in 2004 and
require the use of cash. One additional source of cash in
2003 was deferred revenue which increased by $366,000.

Working capital changes in the opposite direction which
required the use of cash in 2003 included: increased other
assets of $1,180,000, primarily as a result of purchases of
corporate owned life insurance on four executives totating
$1,224,000; increased other current assets of $387,000
resulting from two specific one-time occurrences of non-
trade receivables which were collected subsequent to year-
end; decreased accrued restructuring costs of $539,000 as
all restructuring-related charges were paid off in 2003
except for the remaining lease payments on vacated office
space; and decreased accounts payable of $765,000, due
primarily to timing of invoice receipts and check payment
cycles near year end.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investing activities in 2003 used $1,371,000 in cash,
including $480,000 for equipment purchases to support
operations and $908,000 for investment securities
purchases (net of maturities and sales).

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financing activities provided $655,000 of cash in 2003,
resulting from the $383,000 repayment of a note receivable
for common stock as well as proceeds of $272,000 from the
issuance of common stock for stock option exercises and
purchases under the employee stock purchase plan.

The Company believes that its existing cash, cash
equivalents, investments and cash to be generated from
future operations will provide sufficient capital to meet the
business needs of the Company through the end of 2004.
In addition, the Company believes it could generate addi-
tional funding through issuance of debt or equity or
through the sale of land if the Company’s working capital
needs significantly increase due to circumstances such as
sustained weakness in the telecommunications industry
resulting in decreased demand for the Company's products
and services and operating losses; faster than expected
growth resulting in increased accounts receivable and
inventory; additional investment or acquisition activity; or
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significant research and development efforts. However,
there can be no assurance that additional financing will be
available on terms favorable to the Company or at all.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The Company applies certain accounting policies, which are
critical in understanding the Company's results of opera-
tions and the information presented in the consolidated
financial statements. Because these policies require judg-
ment and involve choices among alternatives, reported
results could vary materially if different assumptions or
policies were utilized. Critical accounting policies and
estimates include:

Revenue Recognition|Revenue is generally recognized on
product and integration sales as products are delivered and
ownership and risk of loss are transferred. In certain
limited situations, customers may request that products are
built and prepared for shipment but held temporarily by the
Company on the customers behalf. In those instances,
revenue is recognized when all other terms and obligations
of the sale are met, including transfer of ownership and risk
of loss.

The Company also derives revenue from the sale of network
management system projects that may include a combina-
tion of the following multiple elements: internally devel-
oped software and hardware; resale of third-party software
and related computer equipment; installation, training and
consulting services; and Company-provided and third-party
maintenance and support agreements for the software and
equipment. In a multiple element arrangement, revenue
from the individual elements is unbundled based on their
relative fair values and recognized as follows:

* Revenue on internally developed software and hardware
is recognized in accordance with the following four
elements of revenue recognition: (1) persuasive evidence
of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred,
(3) the related fee is fixed and determinable and (4) col-
lectibility is probable. Software license fees are generally
recognized when the software product has been deliv-
ered, which is generally the point at which all four
criteria have been met.

* Third-party software and equipment revenue are recog-
nized when delivery has occurred and ownership and risk
of loss have transferred. Revenue from resale of third-
party maintenance contracts is generally recorded upon
delivery of the maintenance agreement, provided the
Company has no significant continuing obligation related
to the maintenance contract.

* Revenue from installation, training and consulting ser-
vices is recognized as the services are delivered or upon
project completion.

* Revenue from maintenance and support agreements
is recognized straight-line over the term of the
related agreement.

The Company also generates revenue from the activities of
its services division. Installation service projects are typi-
cally short-term projects that are billed ard accepted by
the customer on a project-by-project basis, with revenue
recognized upon project completion. Revenues from main-
tenance contracts are recognized straight-line over the
related maintenance period.

Sales Return Allowances |Other than issues involving war-
ranty claims, customers generally do not have the right to
return products. However, in certain limited circumstances
as defined in contracts, customers are permitted to return
products. The Company establishes a sales return allowance,
when necessary, reflecting its estimate of such product
returns. The estimate is based on a number of factors,
including the contract provisions, the Company's understand-
ing of each customer’s forecasted usage of oreviously pur-
chased products and the estimated likelihood that customers
will return products. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the
Company has no sales return allowances recorded.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts|The Company sells to its
customers on credit, generally requiring payment within
thirty days from delivery. Since the Company's customer
base is generally comprised of very large, well-funded
service providers, the Company's historical credit risk has
been very low. However, the Company cloes establish
allowances against accounts receivable for potentially un-
collectible amounts. The Company estimates necessary al-
lowances based on its analysis of customers’ outstanding
receivables at the individual invoice level, the customers’
payment history and any other known factors concerning
their current financial condition and ability to pay. After
the Company has exhausted its collection efforts and
determined that amounts are uncollectible at the individual
invoice level, such amounts are charged off against the
altowance. To the extent any customers unexpectedly be-
come insolvent or unable to pay amounts due, the allow-
ance estimates may be incorrect. Over the last twelve to
twenty-four months, many telecommunications service
providers, including some that have historically been cus-
tomers of the Company, have experienced financial chal-
lenges. The Company did not have any significant exposure
to bankruptcies among its customers. Further, the Company
has not historically provided vendor financing to its cus-
tomers, and currently has no plans to do so.

Inventory | The Company records inventory utilizing stan-
dard costs, which approximate actual costs on a first-in,
first-out basis. Additionally, the Company carries inventory
at the lower of cost or market. The Compary periodically
estimates its necessary reserve for inventory obsolescence
to ensure inventory balances are properly stated. Such
estimates are based on inventory quantities an hand, sales
forecasts for particular products, overall industry trends
that may affect individual product lines, as well as fluctua-
tions in component prices from suppliers. Continued weak
demand and falling component prices could impact the
valuation of the Company's inventory.
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Intangible Assets and Goodwill|The Company has certain
intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions that
are recorded at cost. These intangible assets are amortized
straight-line over their respective estimated economic
lives, generally up to three years, and are reviewed for
impairment under certain circumstances. Goodwill, repre-
senting the excess of purchase price over the fair value of
the net assets acquired, is not subject to periodic amortiza-
tion. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually
and may be reviewed more frequently if certain events
occur or circumstances change.

Warranty | The Company generally warrants its products for a
minimum of one year after sale. Based primarily on histori-
cal experience and any known warranty issues with existing
products, the Company estimates its expected future war-
ranty costs and accrues such costs at the time of sale.
Warranty costs generally consist of labor and materials to
repair defective parts, replacement parts, shipping costs to
replace materials, and labor and travel costs associated
with customer site visits to repair products or correct prior
service work. The Company’s overall warranty costs have
been decreasing over the past several years, primarily due
to improved product quality and lower sales volumes.
As the Company introduces new products using new tech-
nology or if defects are found in widely distributed prod-
ucts, the Company’s estimates of future warranty costs
could be inaccurate.

Income Taxes|The Company utilizes the asset and liability
method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax conse-
quences attributable to differences between financial
statement carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and
respective tax bases. The Company’s provision for income
taxes involves estimates of taxable income for federal,
state and local purposes in various taxing jurisdictions as
well as estimated research and experimentation credits,
estimated credits related to foreign sales and estimated tax
contingency reserves for any known tax exposures, all of
which could be subject to change in the event of an audit
by the Internal Revenue Service.

Stock-Based Compensation|Under various stock option
plans, the Company has issued stock options to employees
and members of the Company’s Board of Directors. The
Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of ac-
counting for its fixed plan stock options and therefore must
record compensation expense for any options granted with
an exercise price less than the current market price at the

date of grant. Because the Company has not granted any
options with exercise prices less than market prices at the
date of grant, the Company has not recorded any compensa-
tion expense in its consolidated statements of operations.
Had the Company accounted for its stock options using the
Black Scholes option-pricing model, a fair value-based
method, rather than an intrinsic value-based method, the
Company would have recognized additional compensation
expense, net of related tax effects, of approximately
$1,320,000, $1,736,000 and $2,617,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Use of Estimates |In addition to the above critical account-
ing policies, the Company utilizes certain estimates in
preparing its consolidated financial statements. Because
these estimates are inherently subjective and affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as well as contin-
gent assets and liabilities, different estimates would yield
different results as reported in the consolidated financial
statements. Areas that involve utilization of significant
estimates include accounting for doubtful accounts, inven-
tory obsolescence, estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, depreciation and
amortization, sales returns, warranty costs, income taxes
and contingencies. The Company's experience has indicated
historical estimates have been reasonable and the Company
has been able to reasonably estimate its exposures related
to these areas.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND
COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

The Company is obligated over the next three years for
office space under various operating leases. Future mini-
mum lease payments, net of estimated sublease payments
under these leases, are $96,000 in 2004, $54,000 in 2005
and $23,000 in 2006.

The Company’s note payable of $750,000 is due in
August 2004.

The Company utilizes the manufacturing services of several
contract manufacturers to supply certain components and
subassemblies used in the Company's products. Based on
production schedules and necessary lead times, the Com-
pany may enter into purchase commitments for inventory
from these contract manufacturers. At December 31, 2003,
the Company had purchase commitments for inventory of
$844,000. These purchase commitments are expected to be
fulfilled by April 2004.
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The following summarizes the Company's contractual obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2003:

Payments due by period
Less than 1 to 3 to More than
Total 1 year 3 years 5 years 5 years
Operating leases ...........c.oviiiveinenn. $ 173,000 $ 96,000 $77,000 $ — 3 -
Note payable........... ... ... ..., 750,000 750,000 — — -
Purchase commitments................... ... 844,000 844,000 — — -
Total ........ S P $1,767,000 $1,690,000 $77,000 $ - 3 -

ITEM SEVEN A | QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company does not have any material exposure to interest rate changes, commodity price changes, foreign currency
fluctuations or similar market risks. The Company invests in various debt and equity obligations, primarily U.5. government
agency obligations and high quality commercial paper, with maturities generally less than three years. Although the yields
on such investments are subject to changes in interest rates, the potential impact to the Company and its future earnings
as a result of customary interest rate fluctuations is immaterial. Furthermore, the Company has not entered into any
derivative contracts. Related to an acquisition in 2001, the Company has a $750,000 note payable due in August 2004,
bearing interest at a fixed rate of 8% annually.

ITEM EIGHT | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Applied Innovation Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Applied Innovation Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Applied Innovation Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
January 23, 2004
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APPLIED INNOVATION INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2003 2002
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents............ .. .. i $12,030,638 $ 8,986,292
Short term investments . ... .. . 5,582,325 8,028,510
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $140,000 in 2003
and $430,000 00 2002 ... . i e 3,449,052 5,040,405
Inventory, net ... . e 2,814,442 3,409,842
Income taxes receivable ...... ... . .. 268,287 3,079,534
Other current assets . . ... e e 1,255,700 868,818
Deferred iNCOME LAXES . .. .\ttt e e e 1,963,000 2,050,000
Total current assets .. ... ...t e 27,363,444 31,463,401
Property, plant and equipment, net .............. . . . i 7,060,034 7,793,014
Investments ... ... e 10,360,075 6,949,215
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $633,750 in 2003
and $423,750 01 2002 . .. o e e 131,250 341,250
Goodwill . ..o e 3,525,801 3,477,001
Deferred income taxes . ... ..o i e 127,000 226,000
Other assets . ... e 1,315,275 135,027
$49,882,879 $50,384,908
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts pavable . .. ... . e $ 790,037 $ 1,554,872
Accrued expenses:
WarrantY e e 479,062 542,651
Payroll and related expenses . ........ ... .. ..o 787,819 647,149
RESEIUCLUNING . . .ot e e 43,825 582,811
Taxes, other than income taxes ............ccoviiiiiniiiiiinnnnn. 563,252 274,681
Other accrued eXPeASES . . ..ottt 723,249 830,822
Deferred revenuUe . ... .ot e 2,268,999 1,902,556
Note payable ... ... 750,000 —
Total current liabilities ........ ... ... . . . 6,406,243 6,335,542
Note payable ... . — 750,000
Total labilities ... ... e 6,406,243 7,085,542
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock; $.01 par value; authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued
and outstanding . ... —_ —
Common stock; $.01 par value; authorized 55,000,000 shares; issued and
outstanding 15,033,409 shares in 2003 and 14,950,749 shares in 2002 . ... 150,334 149,507
Additional paid-in capital ....... .. ... 6,140,540 5,845,740
Note receivable for common stock ...... ... ... .. ... ool - (382,783)
Retained €arnings .. ... ... i it 37,145,452 37,680,937
Accumulated other comprehensive gain, net .............. ... ... ...l 40,310 5,965
Total stockholders” equity ....... ... ..o i 43,476,636 43,299,366
$49,882,879 $50,384,908

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED INNOVATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Sales:
Products and integration . ......... ... ... .. ... . . $26,973,066 $35,992,455 $58,670,859
S OIVICS ot 6,995,020 6,968,556 14,348,291
Totalsales ...... .o e 33,968,086 42,961,011 73,019,150
Cost of sales:
Cost of sales — products and integration ................... 13,182,991 19,216,831 29,614,258
Cost of sales —services .......... ... .. e, 3,170,646 4,339,840 9,637,448
Total cost of sales ... ... 16,353,637 23,556,671 39,251,716
Gross profit. . . ..ot 17,614,449 19,404,340 33,767,434
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative ........................ 13,689,576 18,413,456 22,183,578
Research and development .......... ... .. ... ... . ....... 5,575,652 7,084,646 9,648,838
Restructuring charges .............. . .. i (32,237) 2,890,155 292,330
Total operating expenses. .........c..iueeiinnnn.n.. 19,232,991 28,388,257 32,124,806
(Loss) income from operations .................. ... ... (1,618,542) (8,983,917) 1,642,628
Interest and other income, net................. ... L 393,057 597,137 1,350,338
R (Loss) income before income taxes ...................... (1,225,485) (8,386,780) 2,992,956
o Income taxes ... ..o (690,000) (3,532,000) 755,000
Net (loss) income .. ... .o $ (535,485) $(4,854,780) $ 2,237,956
(Loss) earnings per share:
Basic (loss) earnings pershare.......................... $ (0:04) $ (0.32) § 0.14
Diluted (loss) earnings pershare ........................ $ (0.04) $ (0.32) § 0.14
Weighted-average shares outstanding for basic (loss) earnings
per share ... ... 14,994,924 15,092,328 15,870,432
Weighted-average shares outstanding for diluted (loss) earnings
per Share ... 14,994,924 15,092,328 16,140,993

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED INNOVATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity ‘
i
Note
Common stock receivable Accumulated ;
Number Additional for other . !
of shares paid-in common Retained ~ comprehensive i L
outstanding  Amount capital stock earnings gain, net Totals !
Balance —
December 31, 2000 ...... 15,808,479 $158,085 $10,081,936 $(600,000) $40,297,751 $ 53,848 $49,991,620
Comprehensive income: ; R
Net income............. — - — —_— 2,237,966 — 2,237,966 :
Unrealized loss on
investments, net ...... — — — - — (5,361) (5,361)
Total comprehensive income 2,232,605
Stock options exercised. . . .. 99,720 997 479,513 — — — 480,510
Sale of stock to officer ... .. 50,000 500 427,625 —_ — — 428,125
Common stock repurchased .. (445,300)  (4,453) (3,023,674) - - —_ (3,028,127)
Repayment of note receivable
for common stock ....... — — — 105,129 — —_ 105,129
Tax benefit associated with
exercise of stock options — — 694,050 — — — 694,050
Balance —
December 31, 2001 .... .. 15,512,899 $155,129 §$ 8,659,450 $(494,871) $42,535,717 $ 48,487 $50,903,912
Comprehensive loss: :
Netloss ............... - — — —  (4,854,780) - (4,854,780)
Unrealized loss on -
investments, net ...... — — — — — (42,522) (42,522)
Total comprehensive
(0SS v eeeeeeen (4,897,302)
Stock options exercised. . ... 4,000 40 15,179 — — — 15,219
Common stock repurchased..  (566,150)  (5,662) (2,829,229) — — - (2,834,891) :
Repayment of note receivable !
for common stock ....... —_ — — 112,088 — - 112,088
Tax benefit associated with
exercise of stock options — — 340 — — — 340
Balance —
December 31, 2002 ... ... 14,950,749 $149,507 $ 5,845,740 $(382,783) $37,680,937 $ 5,965 $43,299,366
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss ............... — — - — {535,485) — (535,485)
Unrealized gain on
investments, net ... ... — - —_ —_ - 34,345 34,345
Total comprehensive
loss...oovovi i (501,140)
Stack options exercised . . ... 37,900 379 151,459 — — — 151,838
Stock issued for employee
stock purchase plan...... 44,760 448 120,324 —_ — — 120,772
Repayment of note receivable
for common stock ....... — — — 382,783 — — 382,783 "
Tax benefit associated with ;
exercise of stock options - — 23,017 — —_ — 23,017
Balance — ‘
December 31, 2003 ...... 15,033,409 $150,334 § 6,140,540 $ —  $37,145,452 $ 40,310 $43,476,636

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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APPLIED INNOVATION INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) imcome ... ..ot $ (535,485) $ (4,854,780) $ 2,237,066
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation .. ... ... ... 1,196,697 1,715,261 1,721,061
Amortization of intangible assets .......... ... ... .. ... 210,000 210,000 213,750
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets...................... (797) 241,914 (12,714)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) ................. 164,000 462,000 (33,000)
Tax benefit of options exercised....................... 23,017 340 694,050
Effects of change in operating assets and liabilities, net of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in acquisition:
Accounts receivable ......... ... ool 1,591,353 2,656,598 22,461,502
Inventory. ... i 595,400 3,912,474 5,015,679
Income taxes receivable ................ .. .. o 2,811,247 (2,176,265)  (3,294,671)
Other current assets . ............................. (386,882) (238,225) 222,391
Otherassets........ ... it (1,180,248) 34,660 71,354
Accounts payable ......... ... .. ..l (764,835) (204,814) (17,280,850)
Accrued eXpenses . ... ... (329,707)  (1,119.820)  (1,398,102)
Deferred revenue ... ... ... i 366,443 (1,587,516) (450,985)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities....... 3,760,203 (948,173) 10,167,431
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment............... (479,712) (961,400)  (1,825,076)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment ...... 16,792 34,566 34,459
Payment for business acquisition........................ —_ — (4,044,969)
Purchases of investments ......... ... ... ... ... ... ... (16,778,379) (13,870,211) (23,108,753)
Proceeds from maturities of investments .............. ... 15,669,233 10,983,967 15,598,693
Proceeds from sales of investments...................... 200,816 756,533 6,871,092
Net cash wsed in investing activities .................. (1,371,250)  (3,056,545)  (6,474,554)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Common stock repurchased ........ ... ..., - (2,834,891)  (3,028,127)
Proceeds from payment on note receivable................ 382,783 112,088 105,.29
Proceeds from issuance of common stock ................. 272,610 15,219 908,635
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ........ ... 655,393 (2,707,584)  (2,014,163)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............ 3,044,346 (6,712,302) 1,678,514
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of year.............. 8,986,292 15,698,594 14,020,080
Cash and cash equivalents —end of year................... $ 12,030,638 $ 8,986,292 $ 15,698,594
Supplemental cash flow disclosure:
Income taxes received (paid), net....................... $ 3,688,265 $ 1,818,737 $ (3,364,427)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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(1) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following accounting principles and practices of Applied Innovation Inc. and subsidiaries (“the Company”) are set
forth to facilitate the understanding of data presented in the consolidated financial statements:

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

The Company is a network management solutions company that simplifies and enhances the operation of complex,
distributed voice and data netwarks. Building on a deep knowledge of network architecture, elements and management,
the Company delivers unique hardware, software and service solutions that provide greater connectivity, visibility and
control of network elements and the systems that support them.

The Company’s solutions are targeted to three pn'mary markets in the U.S. and abroad: 1) telecommunications companies
using wireline networks; 2) telecommunications companies using wireless networks; and 3) government networks.
Synergies within the markets allow the Company to leverage its knowledge and experience and deliver a common value
proposition based on key competitive differentiators — namely, its extensive knowledge of network infrastructure, its
commitment to vendor neutrality, and its focus on customers. At the same time, the Company delivers targeted value to
each market by understanding and meeting their unique demands.

The Company was founded in Columbus, Ohio in 1983 and has two wholly owned subsidiaries.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Applied Innovation Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash equivalents represent short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less. At December 31, 2003
and 2002, cash equivalents of $10,410,049 and $7,139,654, respectively, were invested in money markets, corporate
notes, commercial paper and taxable and tax-exempt bonds.

INVESTMENTS

The Company invests in various marketable equity securities and debt obligations, primarily U.S. government agency
obligations and high quality commercial paper, with maturities generally less than three years. Since the Company does
not intend to hold its investments in debt securities until maturity and does not actively trade debt and marketable equity
securities to maximize trading gains, the Company classifies these securities as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly,
reports such securities at fair value. The fair value of debt and marketable equity securities is determined from public
quotations for such securities as of the reporting date. Any temporary excess (deficiency) of fair value over (under) the
underlying cost of the investment, net of taxes, is excluded from current period earnings (loss) and is reported as
unrealized gains (losses) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Any investment impairments deemed other than
temporary by the Company would be included in net income (loss) on the consolidated statements of operations. No such
impairment charges have been recorded in 2003, 2002 or 2001.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The Company grants credit on open account to its customers, substantially all of whom are in the telecommunications
industry. Due to the nature of its customer base, the Company’s historical credit risk has been low. The Company generally
requires payment within thirty days from delivery and has not provided extended payment terms under any type of vendor
financing arrangements. However, the Company does establish allowances against accounts receivable for potentially
uncollectible amounts. The Company estimates necessary allowances based on its analysis of customers’ outstanding
receivables at the individual invoice level, the customers’ payment history and any other known factors concerning their
current financial condition and ability to pay. After the Company has exhausted its collection efforts and determined that
amounts are uncollectible at the individual invoice level, such amounts are charged off against the allowance.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Product Sales|The Company recognizes product and integration sales when products are delivered and ownership and
risk of loss are transferred. Alternatively, in certain limited circumstances, a customer’s order may direct the Company to
build products and prepare them for shipment, but hold such products temporarily on the customer’s behalf. In such
situations, revenue is recognized when all other terms and obligations of the sale are met, including transfer of ownership
and risk of loss.

e |
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Network Management System Sales|Revenue from the sale of network management system projects may include a
combination of the following multiple elements: internally developed software and hardware; resale of third-party software
and related computer equipment; installation, training and consulting services; and Company-provided and third-party
maintenance and support agreements for the software and equipment. In a multiple element arrangement, revenue from
the individual elements is unbundled based on their relative fair values and recognized as follows:

¢ Revenue on internally developed software and hardware is recognized in accordance with the following fcur elements of
revenue recognition: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the related fee is
fixed and determinable, and (4) collectibility is probable. Software license fees are generally recognized when the
software product has been delivered, which is generally the point at which all four criteria have been met.

* Third-party software and equipment revenue are recognized when delivery has occurred and ownership and risk of
loss have transferred. Revenue from resale of third-party maintenance contracts is generally recorded upon delivery of
the maintenance agreement, provided the Company has no significant continuing obligation rzlated to the
maintenance contract.

+ Revenue from installation, training and consulting services is recognized as the services are delivered or upon
project completion.

* Revenue from maintenance and support agreements is recognized straight-line over the term of the related agreement.

Service Sales | Installation service projects are generally short-term in nature and are billed by the Company and accepted
by the customer on a project-by-project basis. The Company recognizes installation service revenue at the completion of
the project. Revenues from maintenance agreements are billed periodically, deferred and recognized straight-line over the
terms of the agreements.

INVENTORY

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is computed using standard cost, which approximates actual cost
on the first-in, first-out basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives as follows:

Lives (in years)

BUIlding . ..o 40
B U DNt L oo e e 3-5
FUT M U L L e 7

INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Purchased intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, primarily intellectual property and non-compete
agreements, are carried at cost less accumulated amortization. Amortization is provided using the straight-line method
over the estimated economic lives of the respective assets, generally up to three years. Amortization expense for the years
ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $210,000, $210,000 and $213,750, respectively. The assets will become
fully amortized in 2004, resulting in amortization expense of $131,250.

Goodwill, representing the excess of purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired, is not amortized but
instead is tested for impairment at least annually. During 2003 and 2002, the Company completed its annual impairment
tests using established valuation techniques and determined that no impairment charges were necessary,

OTHER ASSETS

Other assets includes corporate-owned life insurance policies, which are recorded at their corresponding cash surrender
values. In 2003, the Company purchased corporate owned life insurance policies covering four of the Company’s executives.
At December 31, 2003, other assets includes $1,241,361 of cash surrender value associated with these policies.

WARRANTY

The Company warrants its products for a minimum of one year after sale. Accordingly, the Company accrues the estimated
costs of such warranties at the time of sale, based on historical experience and known warranty issues with existing
products. Actual warranty costs are accumulated and charged against the warranty accrual.
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INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and Lliabilities and their respective tax bases as well as net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change
in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Company accounts for stock option grants under its stock option plans and for stock purchases under its employee
stock purchase plan in accordance with the intrinsic value-based method of accounting prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Under
APB Opinion No. 25, no compensation cost has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements for stock option
grants or for shares purchased under the employee stock purchase plan.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to stock-based employee
compensation using the Black Scholes model:

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Net (loss) income, asreported........ . ... . ... i $ (535,485) $(4,854,780) $ 2,237,966
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards,

net of related tax effects .......... . ... ... ... (1,319,659) (1,736,080) (2,616,657)
Pro formamet loss. .. .. ... $(1,855,144) $(6,590,860) $ (378,691)
(Loss) earnings per share: -

Basic—asreported ... ... ... $ (0.04) § (0.32) $ 0.14

Basic —proforma........ ... i (0.12) (0.44) (0.02)

Diluted —as reported. . ... ... $ (0.04) $ (0.32) $ 0.14

Diluted — proforma . ......... ... (0.12) (0.44) (0.02)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred.

GENERAL CREDIT RISK

The Company grants credit on open account to its customers, substantially all of whom are in the telecommunications
industry. To date, the Company has not provided extended payment terms under any type of vendor financing agreements.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, the accounting for doubtful accounts, inventory obsolescence,
depreciation and amortization, sales returns, warranty costs, taxes and contingencies. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets and certain intangible assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Determination of
recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition. Measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets and certain intangible assets that the
Company expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset.
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Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangible assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount
or fair value less costs to sell. The Company had no such assets at December 31, 2003 or 2002,

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

(2) INVENTORY

Major classes of inventory at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are summarized below:

2003 2002
Raw materials ... ... $1,516,034 $ 3,508,826
WOTK-T-PrOCESS L Lot e e, 134,874 15,004
Finished goods . ... ..o ot e 1,597,534 993,191
3,248,442 4,517,001
Reserve for obsolescence ....... ... ... ... i (434,000}  (1,107.159)
$2,814,442  $ 3,409,842

During 2003, the Company recorded inventory charges of $551,000 to cost of goods sold, primarily related to certain
potential excess and obsolete inventory. During 2002, the Company recorded inventory charges of $2,152,000 to cost of
goods sold, primarily related to discontinuance of its optical transmission product line and potential excess inventory and
market price exposure associated with certain other materials in inventory.

(3) INVESTMENTS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of all financial instruments, excluding investments, approximate carrying values because of the short
maturities of those instruments. :

The following summarizes the Company’s investments in securities:

Gross Gross

Amartized unrealized  unrealized Fair
December 31, 2003 cost gains losses value
Certificates of deposit ....................... $ 769,198 $ 1,209 $ (3.646) $ 766,761
Corporate obligations . ................. ... ... 6,844,627 17,896 (10,169) 6,852,354
Marketable equity securities.................. 489,059 71,967 (1,285) 559,741
Mutual funds ............................... 92,910 2,160 (787) 94,283
US government agency obligations............. 7,681,298 6,120 (18,157) 7,669,261
Total .. ... . $15,877,092 $99,352 $(34,044) $15,942,400
Reported as:
Short-term investments ...................... $ 5,582,325
Investments................................ 10,360,075
Total ... $15,942,400
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Gross Gross

Amortized unrealized unrealized Fair
December 31, 2002 cost gains losses value
Certificates of deposit ....................... $ 126,582 $ 7 $ (1,425) § 125,164
Corporate obligations . ....................... 8,198,395 21,049 (40,458) 8,178,986
U.S. government agency obligations ............ 6,541,165 29,255 (20,517) 6,549,903
U.S. government obligations .................. 102,619 21,053 — 123,672
Total ... $14,968,761 $71,364 $(62,400) $14,977,725
Reported as:
Short-term investments ...................... $ 8,028,510
Investments ......... .. ... ... ol 6,949,215
Total . ... o $14,977,725

Gross realized gains included in income in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $5,523, $22,306 and $27,536, respectively, and
gross realized losses included in income in 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $4,545, $117,507 and $45,485, respectively.
Realized gains and losses are determined by specific identification.

Interest income, primarily from investments, was $467,738, $665,343 and $1,418,385 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The Company's December 31, 2003 debt securities at fair market value mature as follows: $5,582,325 in less than one year,
$9,105,334 after one year but less than five years and $695,000 in five or more years.

(4) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are summarized below:

2003 2002

Land L e $ 1,639,303 $ 1,639,303
Building ... o 5,109,087 5,109,087
EQUIPMENE . L e e e 8,381,748 8,015,609
FUPMIEUTE . o 2,030,209 2,018,457
17,160,347 16,782,456

Accumulated depreciation ... ... .. L (10,100,313) (8,989,442)
$ 7,060,034 § 7,793,014

(5) WARRANTY

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company initiated a product recall after a manufacturing defect was
identified in a power supply component that was purchased from a third-party manufacturer, integrated into the
Company's products and shipped to customers in 1997 and 1998. The Company estimated the number of units that it
expected customers to return in the recall and recorded the associated costs of $450,000 in the first quarter to recall and
replace those units. During the year, the Company recorded adjustments of $179,000 to decrease the reserve balance
based on revisions to the estimated number of units to be returned and the associated costs. In addition, costs associated
with the product recall totaling $210,000 were recorded against the reserve. At December 31, 2003, the remaining reserve
balance associated with the product recall was $61,000.

The Company's warranty activity is summarized below:

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002

Beginning balance .. ... ... . $ 542,651 $ 819,166
Warranty provisSion . ... ... it 918,616 974,119
Warranty costs incurred .. ... . e (982,205)  (1,250,634)
Ending balance ... ..o e $ 479,062 § 542,651

W
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(6) ACQUISITION

On August 15, 2001, the Company acquired certain assets of the remote network management systems and information
collection device business of Badger Technolagy, Inc. (“Badger”). The results of Badger's operations have been included in
the Company's consolidated financial results since the date of acquisition. Badger, a privately held company located in
California, primarily targeted the wireless telecommunications market with its remote network management products. As a
result of the acquisition, the Company further penetrated the wireless telecommunications market by leveraging Badger's
products targeting cell site remote management with the Company’s larger sales force and service capabilities.

The acquisition was accounted for in accordance with the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price included cash
payments of $3,955,044 and a note payable of $750,000. There was also a contingent payment of up to $750,000 based on
certain product sales over the two years subsequent to the acquisition date. The note payable bears an 8% annual interest
rate, with interest payable semi-annually and principal due in August 2004. The purchase price and acquisition costs of
$89,925 were allocated to assets acquired hased on estimated fair market values at the acquisition date, with the balance
recorded as goodwill.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired at the acquisition date:

Accounts receivable . .. .. . e $ 167,806
INVenEOrY 328,935
Property, plant and equipment .. ... . 128,427
Intangible @ssets .. .. e 765,000
GoOdWIll .. 3,404,801

Total assets acqUITEd . .. .. .o oottt e e $ 4,794,969

The Company records contingent consideration as additional goodwill as the contingencies are resolved. Of the contingent
payment, cumulative totals of $121,000 and $72,200 were recorded as additional goodwill at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Goodwill is expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes.

(7) MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND GEOGRAPHIC DATA

Revenues to major customers represented 74%, 75% and 66% of net sales for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The
number of major customers previously referred to were three, three and four for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, with
trade accounts receivable balances of $1,925,468 and $3,566,498 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The Company’'s sales by geographic areas were as follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
United States . .. ... . e $32,924,985 $36,569,783  $68,820,616
International ....... ... ... ... 1,043,101 6,391,228 4,198,534

$33,968,086  $42,961,011  $73,019,150
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(8) EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The calculations of earnings (loss) per share for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, are based upon the
weighted-average shares outstanding during the periods and, when applicable, those stock options that are dilutive, using
the treasury stock method. Reconciliations of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings (loss)
per share calculations follow:

Years Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Net (loss) income available to common stockholders .......... $ (535,485) $(4,854,780) § 2,237,966
Weighted average shares outstanding — basic ............... 14,994,924 15,092,328 15,870,492
Effect of dilutive securities — stock options................. — — 270,501
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted .. ............ 14,994,924 15,092,328 16,140,993
Basic (loss) earnings pershare.....................oi.... $ (0.04) § (0.32) % 0.14
Diluted (loss) earnings pershare ............ ... .. ... ..... $ (0.04) % (0.32) 3 0.14

Due to the Company's net loss for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, no common equivalent shares were
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share for those years because their effect would have been anti-dilutive. The
Company’s weighted-average number of options which were in-the-money and, therefore, potentially dilutive for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were 557,192 and 159,098, respectively.

Stock options which are anti-dilutive under the treasury stock method because they are out-of-the-money have been
excluded from the above earnings per share calculations. The Company's stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001 which were excluded from the earnings per share calculations because they were out-of-the-money were
1,263,720, 1,670,100 and 1,215,350, respectively.

(9) STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan (“the 2001 Plan”) was adopted by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2001, and
approved by the stockholders of the Company as of April 26, 2001, with 2,000,000 shares of common stock reserved for
issuance under the 2001 Plan. Options granted under the 2001 Plan may be either incentive stock options or nonstatutory
stock options, with maximum terms of ten years. The exercise price of each incentive stock option must be at least 100% of
the fair market value per share of the Company’s common stock as determined by the Stock Option and Compensation
Committee on the date of grant. Except for options granted to the Board of Directors which generally vest immediately and
become exercisable one year from issuance, options granted under the 2001 Plan generally vest over five years.

Previously, the Company had adopted the 1996 Stock Option Plan (“the 1996 Plan”) with 2,000,000 shares of common
stock reserved for issuance under the 1996 Plan. Options granted under the 1996 Plan have maximum terms of ten years.
The exercise price of each incentive stock option must be at least 100% of the fair market value per share of the Company’s
common stock as determined by the Stock Option and Compensation Committee on the date of grant. Except for options
granted to the Board of Directors which generally vest immediately and become exercisable one year from issuance,
options granted under the 1996 Plan generally vest over five years.

Tax benefits realized by the Company for deductions in excess of compensation expense under these plans are credited to
additional paid-in capital.

At December 31, 2003, there were 837,000 additional shares available for grant under the 2001 Plan and 1,098,390
additional shares available for grant under the 1996 Plan. The per share weighted-average fair value of stock options
granted during 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $2.35, $3.65 and $7.27, respectively, on the date of grant using the Black
Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions used for grants in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001, respectively: dividend yield of 0% for all years; expected volatility of 90%, 90% and 93%; risk-free interest rate
of 3.0%, 4.3% and 4.5%; and expected life of 5.6, 5.6 and 5 years.
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A summary of stock option activity follows:

Weighted-
Number of average
shares exercise price
Balance at December 31, 2000 ... ... ... i 1,776,980 $ 8.66
Granted ... ... e 1,082,000 10.99
Exercised ... (99,720) 4.82
Canceled/expired . . ... i e (392,430) 11.3C
Balance at December 31, 2001 . ... ... .ttt 2,366,830 $ 10.55
Granted .. 619,500 5.13
EXercised ... e (4,000) 3.8C
Canceled/expired . . ... ... o e (1,161,030) 12.17
Balance at December 31, 2002 ... ... .. i 1,821,300 $ 7.62
Granted . . ... ... e 457,500 3.31
Exercised. ... ... .. (37,900) 4.01
Canceled/expired . ... ... ... . . (442,630) 7.41
Balance at December 31, 2003 ........ ... ... ... .. ... ..., 1,798,270 $ 6.65
The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at December 31, 2003:
Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted-
average Weighted- Weightad-
remaining average average
Range of Number of contractual exercise Number of exercise
exercise prices shares life price shares price
$ 2.85 - 3.03 369,250 9.00 $ 3.03 600 $ 2.95
3.04 - 4.63 225,300 5.42 3.89 117,100 3.91
4.69 - 5.89 382,520 7.55 5.18 149,320 5.15
5.90 - 7.99 183,750 5.44 6.95 101,150 7.10
8.11 ~ 9.38 259,850 6.52 8.35 163,450 - 8.34
10.01 - 11.70 294,850 7.08 11.52 163,300 11.56
12.13 - 17.38 82,750 6.69 13.74 46,100 13.71
1,798,270 7.10 6.65 741,020 7.87

(10) EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

At the April 25, 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, the Applied Innovation Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“the
ESPP”) was approved and adopted. The ESPP authorizes the Company to issue up to 500,000 shares of common stock to
eligible employees, as defined. The ESPP has semi-annual offering periods commencing January 1 and July 1. During each
offering period, eligible employees may purchase shares at a price equal to 90% of fair market value on the first or last
business day of the offering period, whichever is lower.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, 44,760 shares of common stock at an average price of $2.70 were issued
pursuant to the ESPP. On January 3, 2004 the Company issued 14,766 shares of common stock at a price of $3.02 per
share based on employee payroll deductions for the six-month offering period ending December 31, 200.

(11) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) and profit sharing plan that covers all eligible employees. Since
October 1, 1999, the Company matched 50% of each participant’s contribution, up to 6% of that participant’s
contribution. The Company may also make profit sharing contributions at the discretion of the Board of Directors. No such
contributions were made in 2003, 2002 or 2001. For 2003, 2002 and 2001, the total expense related to the plan was
$195,294, $260,531 and $464,802, respectively.
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(12) INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense (benefit) consists of:

Current Deferred Total
Year ended December 31, 2003:
Federal ...... ... . . . e $ (930,000) $171,000 $ (759,000)
Stateand local . ....... ... .. ... ...l 76,000 (7,000) 69,000

$ (854,000) $164,000 $ (690,000)

Year ended December 31, 2002:
Federal. . ... . e $ (3,917,000) $ 559,000 $ (3,358,000)
Stateand local .......... . . (77,000)  (97,000) (174,000)

$ (3,994,000) $ 462,000 §$ (3,532,000)

Year ended December 31, 2001:
Federal. ... ... o e $ 568,000 $ (29,000) $ 539,000
Stateand local ....... . 220,000 (4,000) 216,000

$ 788,000 § (33,000) $ 755,000

A reconciliation of income tax (benefit) expense at the expected federal statutory rate (34%) to income tax
(benefit) expense at the Company's effective rates is as follows:

2003 2002 2001

Computed tax at the expected federal statutory rate ............... $(417,000) $(2,852,000) $1,018,000
State and local income taxes, net of federal income tax effect ....... 43,000 (148,000) 141,000
Meals and entertainment expenses . .......... . ... 42,000 62,000 88,000
Research and experimentation credit ................. ... ... ... .. (24,000) (467,000)  (365,000)
Tax contingency reserve adjustment ................ ... .. ... .. (351,000) — —
Dividends from foreign sales corporation ......................... - (101,000) (55,000)
Tax-exempt interest income. ... ... ... ... ..l (20,000) (22,000) (85,000)
OBher . . 37,000 (4,000) 13,000

$(690,000) $(3,532,000) $ 755,000

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are presented below:

2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:

Accounts receivable allowance ........ ... ... $ 54,000 $ 166,000
Inventory, principally due to obsolescence reserve and additional costs

inventoried for tax PUrPOSES . . .. .ottt e 350,000 609,000
W arTantY FESIVE . . Lottt e e 184,000 209,000
Restructuning Costs. . ... oot 17,000 224,000
Other acerued EXPeNSES .. ..ottt e 129,000 113,000
Deferred revenue .. ..... ... e 874,000 732,000
State tax net operating loss carryforwards . .......... .. oL 201,000 171,000
Research and experimentation credit carryforwards . .......... ... . ... ... 299,000 —
Other . e 81,000 55,000

$2,189,000 $2,279,000

Unrealized gain on investments .......... .. ... i $ 25,000 3% 3,000
1031 U 74,000 —

$ 99,000 $ 3,000




In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent
upon the utilization of loss carrybacks or the generation of future taxable income during the periods ir which those
temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level of historical
taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods which the deferred tax assets are deductible,
management believes that it is more likely than not the Company will realize the benefits of these deductible differences
and, therefore, no valuation allowance has been provided. State net operating loss carryforwards expire from 2007 through
2023 while federal research and experimentation credit carryforwards expire in 2022 and 2023.

(13) LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Company is obligated for office space in Colorado, Texas, California and Mexico under various operating leases, which
expire over the next three years. The Company's California property is sublet through the term of the lease.

Future minimum lease payments and estimated sublease receipts under the operating leases as of December 31, 2003 are:

Lease Sublease
payments  receipts

Years ending December 31,

2004 . .\ o 155,290  (59,136)
2005 . L e 74,678 (20,984)
2006 . . 23,154 —
Total minimum lease payments ... ... ... i e $253,121  $(80,120)

Total rent expense, net of related sublease rental income, in 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $91,463, $276,850) and $3,856,
respectively. In 2002, the Company's restructuring charges included $184,977 for future lease payments, net of estimated
sublease rental income, for office leases in Georgia, Illinois and California.

(14) EQUITY

On September 14, 2001, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a twelve-month stock repurchase program under
which the Company was authorized to purchase up to 1,500,000 shares of common stock. During the twelve months of the
repurchase program, the Company paid $5,863,018 to repurchase 1,011,450 shares.

As part of an employment agreement dated July 13, 2000 with its previous President and Chief Executive Officer, the
Company sold 100,000 unregistered shares of its common stock at $12 per share, the closing market price on the date of
the agreement. In exchange for the stock, the Company received $600,000 of cash and a $600,000 five year note, bearing
interest at 6.62%, payable in five annual installments of principal and interest commencing July 13, 2001. 1t is reflected
in the stockholders’ equity section of the accompanying consolidated balance sheet for the year ended December 31,
2002. In 2003, the remaining balance on the note was received in full.
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(15) RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

In 2002, the Company enacted two restructuring plans resulting in aggregate restructuring charges of $2,890,155 related
primarily to workforce reductions of approximately 150 employees throughout all departments, as well as charges related
to excess equipment and leased offices. In 2003, certain adjustments totaling $32,237 were made to decrease the accrual
because the planned headcount reduction was not fully enacted and certain fringe benefit costs were less than originally
estimated. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the remaining restructuring accrual was $43,825 and $582,811,
respectively. The accrued restructuring costs remaining at December 31, 2003 represent lease payments (net of estimated
sublease receipts) extending to 2005.

Employee Employee Lease

separations, separations, commitments, Equipment

February 2002  August 2002 net of sublease  disposals Total
Restructuring charges in 2002 .. $ 407,730 § 2,105,375 $ 184,977 $ 192,073 $ 2,890,155
Cash deductions. ............. (407,730) (1,647,354) (60,187) — (2,115,271)
Non-cash deductions .......... — — — (192,073) (192,073)
Accrual balance —

December 31, 2002 ......... $ — § 458,021 § 124,790 $ — 3 582,811

Cash deductions............. - (425,784) (80,965) - (506,749)
Non-cash adjustments........ — (32,237) — — (32,237)

Accrual balance —
December 31, 2003........ $ — $ - $ 43,825 $ — 5 43,825

(16) CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to certain legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course of its business.
Although the outcomes of such matters cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company believes the final disposition of
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

(17) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

A summary of quarterly financial information follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

2003 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Netsales ... ... . o i $5609 §$ 9512 $ 9,960 $8,887
Gross profit ........ ... . ... 2,356 5,160 5,225 4,874
(Loss) income before income taxes........................ (2,520) 259 562 474
Net (loss) income. ... ... ... .. ... . ... (2,016) 207 584 690
Basic net (loss) income pershare......................... (0.13) 0.01 0.04 0.05
Diluted net (loss) income pershare ....................... (0.13) 0.01 0.04 0.05
2002 01 02 Q3 Q4

Net sales . ... oo i $ 9,483 $16,451 § 7,247 $9,781
Gross profit . ... e 4,058 6,949 2,666 5,730
(Loss) income before income taxes .............. ool (4,106) 116 (5,592) 1,195
Net (loss) income ... ... (2,874) 81 (3,148) 1,086
Basic net (loss) income pershare........................... (0.19) 0.01 (0.21) 0.07
Diluted net (loss) income pershare ......................... (0.19) 0.01 (0.21) 0.07
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ITEM NINE | CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM NINE A | CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s management carried out an evaluation, with the
participation of the Company's principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Company's principal executive officer and principal
financial officer concluded that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period
covered by this report. It should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving
its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

There were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most
recent fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

YUY ITEM TEN | DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this item is included under the caption “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS” on pages 4 through 10 of
the Company's Proxy Statement relating to the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on April 22, 2004
(the Proxy Statement), and under the caption “SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE” on page
20 of the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to our directors, officers and all employees. The code of ethics is posted on
our website at and can be accessed from our home page by clicking on “Company” and then “Investors”.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment to, or waiver of, any
provision of this code of ethics by posting such information on our website at the address and location spzcified above.

ITEM ELEVEN | EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is included under the caption “ELECTION OF DIRECTORS” on pages 11 through 16 of
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM TWELVE | SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is included under the caption “OWNERSHIP OF COMMON STOCK BY PRINCIPAL
STOCKHOLDERS” on pages 2 through 3, under the caption “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT” on pages 3 through 4,
and under the caption “EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION” on pages 14 through 15 of the Proxy Statement, and
is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM THIRTEEN | CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this item is included under the caption “RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS” on page 15 of the
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM FOURTEEN | PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is included under the caption “INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT FEES” on page 19 of the
Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.
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(YOI E ITEM FIFTEEN | EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON
FORM 8-K

(a)(1) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

* Independent Auditors’ Report

* Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2003 and 2002

* Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

» Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

* Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

* Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2)(2) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

+ Independent Auditors” Report

* Schedule II (Valuation and Qualifying Accounts)

(2)(3) -Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Exhibit No.

3.1

3.2

10.3*
10.4

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. (Reference is made to Appendix C to the
Company's Definitive Proxy Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 26, 2001,
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 23, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).
By-laws of the Company, as amended. (Reference is made to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company's Registration
Statement on Form 10-SB, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 10, 1993, and
incorporated herein by reference).

Technology Agreement, dated November 12, 1996, between the Company and Cisco Systems, Inc. (Reference
is made to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Annual Report on form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 31, 1998, and incorporated herein by reference).

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and officers and directors. (Reference is made to
Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 31, 1994, and incorporated herein by reference).

Schedule of Indemnification Agreements.

Company’s Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.11 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 30,
2000, and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr. (Reference is made to Exhibit
10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
March 27, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Michael P. Keegan. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.11 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27,
2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Matthew P. Bruening. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1
to the Company's Quarterly Statement on Form 10-Q, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 9, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Eric W. Langille. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Quarterly Statement on Form 10-Q, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 14, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Company’s 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. (Reference is made to Appendix B to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 26, 2001, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on March 23, 2001, and incorporated herein by reference).

Company’'s Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Reference is made to Appendix A to the Company's Definitive
Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on April 25, 2002, filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on March 22, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference).
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! Exhibit No. Description

1 10.11 Employment Agreement between the Company and John F. Petro. (Reference is made to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Quarterly Statement on Form 10-Q, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiori on August
14, 2002, and incorporated herein by reference).

I ! 10.12*  Employment Agreement between the Company and Thomas R. Kuchler.

} 23* Consent of KPMG LLP.

24* Power of Attorney.

31.1* Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2* Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

32.1** Section 1350 Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

32.2**  Section 1350 Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

§ * Filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
** Furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

i (b) Reports on Form 8-K

On October 16, 2003, the Company filed a current report on Form 8-K (Items 7 and 12), dated October 16, 2003, regarding
its consolidated financial results of operations for its third quarter ended September 30, 2003.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule - The financial statement schedule and the independent auditors’ report thereon follow
the signature page.

(d) Exhibits - The exhibits to this report follow the financial statement schedule and the independent auditors’ report
thereon.

Applied Innovation Inc. |37




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AppLIED INNOVATION INC.

Date: March 8, 2004 By: /s/ GERARD B. MoERSDORF, JR.

Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature Title Date

/s/ GERARD B. MOERSDORF, JR. Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr. March 8, 2004
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ MicHAEL P. KEeecan Michael P. Keegan March 8, 2004
Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer
(Principal Financial and
Principal Accounting Officer)

*MICHAEL J. ENDRES Michael J. Endres March 8, 2004
Director

*Tromas W. Husesy Thomas W. Huseby March 8, 2004
Director

*WiLLiam H. LARGENT William H. Largent March 8, 2004
Director

*CurTIS A. LOVELAND Curtis A. Loveland March 8, 2004
Director

*RicHARD W. OLIVER Richard W. Oliver March 8, 2004
Director

*JouN D. RIEDEL John D. Riedel March 8, 2004
Director ‘

*ALExANDER B. TREVOR Alexander B. Trevor March 8, 2004
Director

*By: /s/ GerarD B. MOERSDORF, JR. Gerard B. Moersdorf, Jr.

(Attorney-in-Fact)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Applied Innovation Inc.:

Under date of January 23, 2004, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Applied Innovation Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003, which are included herein.
In connection with our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related
financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying accounts. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement schedule based on
our audits.

In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolideted financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ghio
January 23, 2004

APPLIED INNOVATION INC.

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003, 2002 AND 2001

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Additions
Balance at Charged to  Charged to
beginning of costs and other Balance at
Description period expense accounts Deductions  end of pericd
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003:
Altowance for doubtful accounts $ 430,000 $ (73,342) $ — $ 216,658 $ 140,000
Allowance for obsolete inventory 1,107,159 551,000 — 1,224,159 434,000
Warranty provision ............. 542,651 918,616 —_ 982,205 479,062
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002:
Allowance for doubtful accounts... $§ 475,000 $ 114,596 $ — $ 159,596 $ 430,000
Allowance for obsolete inventory .. 1,770,286 2,150,811 — 2,813,938 1,107,159
Warranty provision .............. 819,166 974,119 — 1,250,634 542,65
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001:
Allowance for doubtful accounts... $ 690,602 § 443,527 $ — $ 659,129 $ 475,000
Allowance for obsolete inventory .. 190,000 1,700,000 —_ 119,714 1,770,286
Warranty provision .............. 1,334,786 1,519,734 — 2,035,354 819,166
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